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Dear Investor, 
 
 
Enclosed is the updated Offering Memorandum document, relating to your investment in the Hudson 
Total Mandate Portfolio Fund. 
 
 
Yours truly, 
 
 
 
Willoughby Asset Management Inc. 
 



 

 

This Offering Memorandum is confidential. By their acceptance hereof, prospective investors agree that they will 

not transmit, reproduce or make available to anyone this Offering Memorandum or any information contained herein. 

 
CONFIDENTIAL OFFERING MEMORANDUM 

 

HUDSON TOTAL MANDATE 

PORTFOLIO FUND 

Dated: April 30, 2017 Continuous Offering 
 

THE ISSUER: 
 

Name: Hudson Total Mandate Portfolio Fund (the “Fund”) 

Head Office: 3100 – 1021 West Hastings Street, Vancouver BC V6E 0C3 

Phone Number: (604) 558-6822 

E-mail Address: admin@willoughbyasset.com 

Fax Number: (604) 558-6823 

Currently Listed or Quoted: These securities do not trade on any exchange or market 

Reporting Issuer: No 

SEDAR Filer: No 

THE OFFERING: 
 

The following information is a summary only and is qualified in its entirety by the more detailed information 

appearing elsewhere in this Offering Memorandum. Capitalized terms used and not otherwise defined herein have 

the meanings set out in the Glossary of Terms. 
 

Securities Offered: An unlimited number of trust units (each, a “Unit” and together, the “Units”) of 

the Fund designated as either Class A or Class F (each, a “Class”). Each Class of 

Units shall have the attributes and characteristics as set out in Item 5 “Securities 

Offered - Terms of Securities”. 

Price Per Security: The subscription price for the Units is based upon the applicable Net Asset 

Value of the Units.  See Item 5 “Securities Offered”. 

Minimum/Maximum 

Offering: 

$0/No maximum. There is no minimum. You may be the only purchaser. 

Funds available under the offering may be insufficient to accomplish our 

proposed objectives. 

Minimum Subscription 

Amount: 

The minimum initial subscription amount for the Units is $500 (or such lesser 

amount as the Manager, in its sole discretion, may accept). See Item 5 “Securities 

Offered - Subscription Procedure”. 

Payment Terms: The subscription price is payable upon subscription, by electronic funds transfer 

via the FundSERV network (www.fundserv.com) or other means satisfactory to 

the Manager. No financing of the subscription price will be provided. 

Closing Date(s): The Units are being offered on a continuous basis.  Closings of the sale of Units 

offered hereunder will take place weekly, on the last Business Day of each week 

in which subscriptions are received. 

Tax Consequences: There are important tax consequences to these securities. See Item 6 “Income Tax 

and Plan Eligibility”. 

Selling Agent: Harbourfront Wealth Management Inc. See Item 7 “Compensation Paid to Sellers 

and Finders”. 

RESALE RESTRICTIONS 
 

You will be restricted from selling your securities for an indefinite period.  The Units are subject to resale 

restrictions, see Item 10 “Resale Restrictions”.  However, you may generally elect to redeem any or all of your 

Units on the last Business Day of any week by following certain procedures. See Item 5 “Securities Offered – 

Redemption Procedure”. 
 

PURCHASERS’ RIGHTS 
 

You have two Business Days to cancel your agreement to purchase these securities. If there is a misrepresentation in 

this Offering Memorandum, you have the right to sue either for damages or to cancel the agreement. See Item 11 

“Investors’ Rights”. 

mailto:admin@willoughbyasset.com
http://www.fundserv.com/
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No securities regulatory authority has assessed the merits of these securities or reviewed this Offering 

Memorandum. Any representation to the contrary is an offence. This is a risky investment.  See Item 8 “Risk 

Factors”. 
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This Offering Memorandum constitutes a private offering of these securities only in British Columbia and only to 

those persons where and to whom they may be lawfully offered for sale and only by persons permitted to sell these 

securities. This Offering Memorandum is not, and under no circumstances is it to be construed as a prospectus, 

advertisement or public offering of the securities referred to herein. No securities commission or similar authority in 

Canada or in any other jurisdiction has reviewed this Offering Memorandum or in any way passed upon the merits of 

the securities offered hereunder and any representation to the contrary is an offence. Persons who acquire securities 

pursuant to this Offering Memorandum will not have the benefit of the review of this material by a securities 

commission or similar authority. 

 
This Offering Memorandum is intended for use by investors solely in connection with the consideration of the 

purchase of these securities. No person is authorized to give any information or to make any representation not 

contained in this Offering Memorandum in connection with the offering of these securities and, if given or made, no 

such information or representation may be relied upon. This Offering Memorandum is confidential. By their 

acceptance hereof, prospective investors agree that they will not transmit, reproduce or make available to anyone this 

Offering Memorandum or any information contained herein. 

 
FORWARD-LOOKING INFORMATION 

 
This Offering Memorandum includes “forward-looking information” with respect to the Fund for the purposes of 

applicable securities legislation. Forward-looking information can be identified by the expressions “anticipate”, 

“continue”, “believe”, “estimate”, “expect”, “may”, “will”, “intend” and similar statements reflecting the intended 

course of conduct and future operations of the Fund. These statements are not historical facts but reflect the Manager’s 

current expectations regarding future results or events based on assumptions made by the Manager about the success 

of the Fund’s investment strategies in certain market conditions.  These assumptions are made in reliance on the 

experience of the Manager’s officers and employees and their knowledge of historical economic and market trends.   

Although the Manager believes that the assumptions made and the expectations presented by such forward- looking 

statements are reasonable, there can be no assurance that the forward-looking statements will prove to be accurate. 

 
Investors are cautioned that the assumptions made and the success of the Fund’s investment strategies are   subject 

to a number of risks and uncertainties that could cause actual results or events to differ materially from current 

expectations. These risks and uncertainties include, but are not limited to, regulatory decisions, changes in the global 

economy, general economic and business conditions, existing governmental regulations, supply, demand and other 

market factors including those set out under Item 8 “Risk Factors”. The forward-looking statements contained herein 

are expressly qualified in their entirety by this cautionary statement. Forward-looking statements are made as of 

the date hereof, or such other date specified in such statements, and neither the Manager, nor any other person 

assumes any obligation to update or revise such forward-looking statements to reflect new information, events or 

circumstances, except as required by law. 
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GLOSSARY OF TERMS 

 
The following terms have the following meaning throughout this Offering Memorandum: 

 
Administrator                  NBCN Inc., which provides fund accounting, registry and transfer agency, administrative 

and trust accounting services under the Fund Accounting and Shareholder Record- Keeping 

Agreement; 

 
Business Day any day other than a Saturday, Sunday or statutory holiday in the Province of British 

Columbia; 

 
Custodial Agreement      agreement entered into between NBCN Inc. and the Manager, on behalf of the Fund, 

whereby NBCN Inc. will provide asset custodian services to the Fund; 

 
Custodian NBCN Inc., which acts as the custodian of and provides asset custodian services to the 

Fund pursuant to the Custodial Agreement; 

 
Fund Accounting and      agreement entered into between NBCN Inc. and the Manager on behalf of the Fund, 

Shareholder Record-       whereby NBCN  Inc. will  provide  accounting,  valuation,  registry,  transfer  agency, 

Keeping Agreement        administrative and trust accounting services to the Fund; 
 

IIROC Investment Industry Regulatory Organization of Canada; 

 
Investment agreement entered into between Harbourfront and the Manager, on behalf of the Fund, 

Management whereby Harbourfront will provide investment management services to the Fund; 

Agreement 

 
Management Fee              the fee payable to the Manager equal to 1/52 of 1.00% (1.00% per annum) of the Net 

Asset Value of the Fund in respect of the Class F Units and 2.39% of the Net Asset Value 

of the Fund in respect of the Class A Units, payable quarterly in arrears; 

 
Net Asset Value                on a Valuation Day, the net value of the assets of the Fund on such Valuation Day, 

determined in accordance with the Trust Agreement; 

 
Net Asset Value on a Valuation Day, in respect of each Class of Units, the quotient obtained by dividing 

Per Unit the Net Asset Value of such Class of Units on such Valuation Day by the total number of 

Units then outstanding in such Class; 

 
Performance Fee             the fee payable to the Manager provided certain milestones are achieved, equal to 20% of 

the amount by which the current quarter-end Class Net Asset Value per Unit exceeds the 

prior all time quarter-end high Class Net Asset Value per Unit, after any adjustments for 

unit distributions; 

 
Services Agreement          agreement entered into between NBCN Inc. and the Manager, on behalf of the Fund, 

setting out the terms and conditions of their relationship generally, as well as specifically 

in relation to NBCN’s trading services whereby NBCN shall execute, clear and settle 

trades in accordance with the instructions of the Fund’s appointed portfolio manager. 

 
Prime Broker                   NBCN Inc., which provides trade execution, trade settlement and brokerage services 

pursuant to the Services Agreement; 

 
Subscription a subscription agreement to subscribe for Units in the form (or forms if there is more than 

Agreement one) as the Manager may prescribe from time to time; 

 
Tax Act Income Tax Act (Canada), R.S.C. 1985 (5th Supp.) c.l, as amended from time to time; 

 
 



vi 
 

 

Trust Agreement            Declaration of Trust dated May 13, 2015 between the Trustee and the Manager creating 

the Fund; 

 
Trustee                              Computershare Trust Company of Canada, a federal trust company organized the Trust 

and Loan Companies Act (Canada), the trustee of the Fund named under the Trust 

Agreement; 

 
Unitholders                       those  investors  whose  subscriptions  to  purchase  Units  offered  by  this  Offering 

Memorandum are accepted by the Fund and thereafter at any particular time the persons 

entered in the register or registers of the Fund as holders of Units and the singular form 

means one such registered holder; and 

 
Valuation Day                  the last Business Day of each week, or any other day on which the Manager determines 

valuation is necessary. 
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ITEM 1: USE OF AVAILABLE FUNDS 
 

1.1         Funds 

 
The Fund sells Units on a continuous basis, with closings of the offering occurring on the last Business Day of each 

week in which subscriptions are received, and at such other times as the Manager may determine.  It is not possible 

to determine accurately what funds will be available as a result of the offering because the subscription price will 

vary depending on what the Net Asset Value per Unit of each Class of the Fund is at the time each Unit is 

purchased.   There is no minimum or maximum number of Units that will be sold as part of the offering.   The 

Management Fee and the Performance Fee are payable out of the net assets of the Fund. 

 
All expenses incurred in organizing the Fund, including setup fees related to the Fund’s service providers, and all 

expenses incurred in connection with the offering are borne by the Manager out of its own funds, and repaid to the 

Manager by the Fund over a two year period.  The Manager will also pay, out of its own funds, for all expenses 

associated with the identification and management of the Fund’s investments.  Ongoing expenses of the Fund, such 

as legal, custodian, audit, transfer, accounting, valuation and record-keeping fees, and any other administration or 

direct expenses such as trading commissions, are borne by the Fund.  See Item 2 “Business of the Fund – 

Administrative Fees and Expenses”. 

 
1.2         Use of Available Funds 

 
The Fund will use the net proceeds from the sale of Units to invest in securities and financial instruments pursuant to 

the Fund’s investment objectives and strategies, policies and restrictions.  See Item 2 “Business of the Fund – Our 

Business”. 
 

ITEM 2: BUSINESS OF THE FUND 

 
2.1         Structure 

 
Fund 

 
The Hudson Total Mandate Portfolio Fund is an unincorporated, open-ended investment trust formed under the laws 

of the Province of British Columbia, and is governed by a Declaration of Trust dated May 13, 2015 (the “Trust 

Agreement”). 

 
The Fund is managed by Willoughby Asset Management Inc. (“Willoughby”, or the “Manager”). Harbourfront 

Wealth Management Inc. (“Harbourfront”), an affiliate of Willoughby, is a portfolio adviser and the exclusive 

selling  agent  of  the  Fund.    Harbourfront  is  an  independent,  boutique  investment  dealer  founded  in  2013. 

Willoughby and Harbourfront are wholly-owned by an employee group through HF Investment Holdings Inc. (“HF 

Investment”). See Item 8 “Risk Factors; Relationship Between the Fund, the Manager and Affiliates of the Manager 

and Potential Conflicts of Interest”. 

 
Computershare Trust Company of Canada is the Trustee of the Fund. The Trustee has no responsibility for investment 

management of the securities or other property of the Fund or for any investment decisions. See Item 2.1 “Material 

Contracts – Trust Agreement”. 

 
Beneficial interests in the Fund are divided into Units of multiple classes.  There is no limit to the number of Units 

or the number of classes of Units that may be issued, subject to any determination to the contrary made by the 

Manager.  Each Unit within a particular class will be of equal value, however, the value of a Unit of one class may 

differ from the value of a Unit in another class.  There are currently two classes of Units being offered for sale by 

the Fund pursuant to this Offering Memorandum, Class A and Class F.  The attributes and characteristics of each 

class of Unit are described under Item 5 “Securities Offered – Terms of Securities”.   In addition to the Units 
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described in this Offering Memorandum, the Fund may create additional classes of Units with such attributes and 

characteristics as the Manager may determine, and which may be offered for sale to such persons as the Manager 

may determine. 

 
The Fund is a “mutual fund trust” for purpose of the Tax Act.  Accordingly, Units are qualified investments under 

the Tax Act for registered retirement savings plans (“RRSPs”), registered retirement income funds (“RRIFs”), tax-

free savings accounts (“TFSAs”), registered education savings plans, registered disability savings plans and deferred 

profit (each a “Registered Plan” and, collectively, “Registered Plans”). See Item 6.3 “Eligibility for Registered Tax 

Plans”. 

 
The current head office and principal business address of the Fund, the Manager and Harbourfront is 3100 – 1021 

West Hastings Street, Vancouver BC V6E 0C3.  The fiscal year end of the Fund is December 31, and the taxation 

year end is December 31 in each year. 

 
Manager 

 
Willoughby, the Manager, is a corporation organized under the laws of British Columbia on October 20, 2014, with 

offices in Vancouver, B.C. Willoughby is registered as an investment fund manager with the British Columbia 

Securities Commission, and is the promoter of the Fund. 

 
The rights, duties and obligations of the Manager relating to the investment management and administration of the 

Fund are set out in the Trust Agreement.   Under the terms of the Trust Agreement, Willoughby, as Manager, 

manages or arranges for the management of the overall undertaking of the Fund, including with respect to such 

matters as administration services and fund accounting, determination of the investment policy for the Fund from 

time to time and the provision of investment analysis, advice and recommendations.  It is the responsibility of the 

Manager to ensure that all investments of the assets of the Fund are made in such a way as to comply with any 

statement made in this Offering Memorandum as to the investment policies, practices and objectives and investment 

restrictions. 

 
Management Fee 

 
In consideration of the management services provided by the Manager under the Trust Agreement, the Fund pays 

the Manager the Management Fee.   The Management Fee is payable quarterly, in arrears, but is calculated and 

accrues weekly as a percentage of the Net Asset Value of each applicable Class of Units that comprise the Fund on 

each Valuation Day. The Management Fee may vary from Class to Class and is deducted as an expense of the Fund 

in the calculation of the net profits of the Fund.  The Management Fee for each of the applicable Classes of Units is 

as follows: 

 
Class F:  1/52 of 1.00% (1.00% per annum) of the Net Asset Value of the Class F Units of the 

Fund on each Valuation Day. 
 

Class A:  1/52 of 2.39% (2.39% per annum) of the Net Asset Value of the Class A Units of the 

Fund on each Valuation Day. 

 
Performance Fee 

 
The Manager is also eligible to receive a Performance Fee in respect of the Class A Units and the Class F Units of the 

Fund.  The Performance Fee in respect of the Class A Units and the Class F Units is calculated and accrued as a 

liability of the Fund on each Valuation Day.  Any accrued Performance Fee will become crystallized and payable at 

the end of each calendar quarter and paid to the Manager from the net assets of the Fund. 

 
In order for the Manager to be eligible to receive a Performance Fee from the Fund, the current quarter -end Net 

Asset Value for a Class of Units must exceed that Class of Units’ high-water mark, adjusted for any unit distributions, 

by 1.25% for the quarter.  The highest historical quarter-end Net Asset Value for each Class of Units 
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establishes the high-water mark for each Class of Units, which must be exceeded in subsequent quarters by not less 

than 1.25% for the Performance Fee to be payable. 

 
If the Performance Fee target is met, the Manager will be eligible to receive a Performance Fee equal to 20% of the 

amount by which the current quarter-end Class Net Asset Value per Unit exceeds the prior all time quarter-end high 

Class Net Asset Value per Unit, after any adjustments for unit distributions.  The Performance Fee will be payable 

by the Fund within 10 Business Days of the quarter end. 

 
If the Performance Fee target is met on a given Valuation Day that is not a quarter-end Valuation Day, a Performance 

Fee accrual is made such that the aggregate Performance Fee accrual for the current quarter is equal to 20% of the 

amount by which the current Class Net Asset Value per Unit exceeds the prior all time quarter-end high Class Net 

Asset Value per Unit, after any adjustments for Unit distributions. 

 
Upon the redemption of any Class of Units by a Unitholder, the accrued portion of any Performance Fee liability 

allocated to the redeemed Units for that Class will be payable by the Fund within 10 Business Days of the end of the 

month in which the Units were redeemed 

 
Portfolio Advisers 

 
As at the date of this Offering Memorandum, the Manager has engaged Harbourfront as its portfolio advisor, and 

may engage other portfolio advisers from time to time.   As portfolio advisers, they manage the investment 

portfolio of the Fund on a discretionary basis, consistent with the Fund’s fundamental investment objective and in 

compliance with the Fund’s investment policies and restrictions. 

 
Harbourfront is an IIROC member securities dealer in British Columbia, Alberta, Saskatchewan, Manitoba, Ontario, 

Quebec and Prince Edward Island. Certain principals of Harbourfront are the same as those of the Manager.  See 

Item 8 “Risk Factors; Relationship Between the Fund, the Manager and Affiliates of the Manager and Potential 

Conflicts of Interest”. As portfolio advisor, Harbourfront is paid compensation of 10 basis points of the fair market 

value of the Fund calculated and paid in arrears on a quarterly basis. 

 
Selling Agent 

 
Harbourfront is the exclusive selling agent for the Fund. Investors may purchase Units of the Fund only through 

Harbourfront. 

 
The Manager will pay part of the Management Fee (1%) charged to the Fund in respect of the Class A Units to 

Harbourfront, as selling agent, in the form of an ongoing service fee known as a “trailing commission”.  See Item 7 

“Compensation Paid to Sellers and Finders”. 

 
Purchasers of class A Units may pay a sales charge of up to 2% of the amount purchased directly to Harbourfront.   

Purchasers of Class F Units are required to pay fees to Harbourfront in respect of holdings of Class F Units and such 

fees may reduce the amount invested in the Units.  Fees paid will vary based on fee account agreements in place 

between Harbourfront and the purchasers. 

 
Certain principals of Harbourfront are the same as those of the Manager.  See Item 8 “Risk Factors; Relationship 

Between the Fund, the Manager and Affiliates of the Manager and Potential Conflicts of Interest”. 

 
Administrator, Custodian and Prime Broker 

 
NBCN Inc. is the Administrator of the Fund.   As Administrator, NBCN Inc. processes all the purchases and 

redemptions of the Units, keeps a register of all Unitholders, conducts the valuation of the Fund on each Valuation 

Day and issues investor statements and annual tax slips to Unitholders. In consideration of the bookkeeping, record - 

keeping and valuation services provided by the Administrator under the Fund Accounting and Shareholder Record- 

Keeping Agreement the Fund pays the Administrator a monthly fee and certain additional periodic fees as set forth in 

the Fund Accounting and Shareholder Record-Keeping Agreement. 
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NBCN Inc. is also the Custodian of the Fund. As Custodian, NBCN Inc. holds the Fund’s cash and investments in 

safekeeping on behalf of the Fund.   In consideration of the custodial services provided by the Custodian under the 

Custodial Agreement, the Fund pays the Custodian a monthly custodial fee. 

 
NBCN Inc. is also the Fund’s Prime Broker for trade execution, trade settlement, and brokerage services in respect of 

the Fund’s portfolio investments. In consideration of the brokerage services provided by the Prime Broker under the 

Services Agreement, the Fund pays NBCN Inc. fees and commissions on a per-transaction basis as set forth in the 

Services Agreement. 

 
Auditors 

 
KPMG LLP are the auditors of the Fund.   As Auditors, KPMG LLP provides assurance that the Fund’s annual 

financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, its financial position and results of operations in accordance 

with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles. 

 
2.2         Our Business 

 
Investment Objectives 

 
The Fund was formed for the purpose of investing in securities in Canada, the United States and other foreign 

jurisdictions. The fundamental investment objective of the Fund is to create a complete asset allocation solution to 

gain above average risk adjusted returns.   The Fund is comprised exclusively of securities listed on North American 

stock exchanges and gains global exposure through the use of exchange traded funds (“ETFs”).   In addition,  

third  party  fund  managers  are  used  through  their  institutional  offerings  in  order  to  diversify management style 

and include hedging opportunities. 

 
The fundamental investment objective of the Fund may only be changed with the approval of a majority of 

Unitholders at a meeting called for that purpose. 

 
Investment Strategies 

 
To achieve the Fund’s investment objectives, the Fund invests in equity and ETF securities as well as third party 

institutionally managed funds.  The individual and ETF securities are listed exclusively on North American stock 

exchanges that are consistent with the Fund’s investment policies and restrictions set forth below under the heading 

“Investment Policies and Restrictions”. Investments in equity and ETF securities are not restricted by market sector, 

market capitalization or liquidity. 

 
The Fund follows a value and growth based investment strategy and also includes blue chip, dividend paying securities.  

To reduce downside risk and capture upside during strong market periods, the fund uses some negatively correlated 

securities including third party institutionally managed funds. 

 
Investment Policies and Restrictions 

 
The Manager adheres to the following investment policies and restrictions in implementing the investment objectives 

and strategies of the Fund: 
 

•  The Fund will not have minimum or maximum asset allocation weightings and there is no requirement to 

be fully invested.  As a result the Fund may at various times hold 100% of its capital in any of equities, 

cash, gold, bonds, commodities or ETFs and third party managed funds representing these or other 

exposures. 
 

•  When the Fund is fully invested in equities, it will hold a minimum of 12 positions, and the equity 

securities of no single corporation shall exceed 20% of the Fund’s capital at any time. 
 

•  The Fund’s investment in equity securities and ETFs is restricted to only those securities listed on the 

Toronto, New York, NYSE MKT LLC and NASDAQ stock exchanges. Investments in equity securities 

and ETFs is not restricted by market sector, market capitalization or liquidity. 
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•  The Fund may have up to 100% of its capital invested in foreign currency denominated securities and may 

from time to time hedge all, part or none of this foreign currency exposure back to Canadian Dollars using 

currency forwards, currency options, or other alternative means. 
 

•  Financial leverage may not be used to increase the Fund’s gross investment exposure to greater than 120% 

of current Fund capital at any time. 
 

•  The Fund may enter into a securities lending agreement with its Prime Broker to generate additional 

returns from long positions held. 

 
2.3         Development of the Business 

 
The Fund was established on May 13, 2015 for investment purposes.  Since being established, the Manager has 

focused on raising capital to achieve the Fund’s investment objectives as described below. 

 
2.4         Long Term Objectives 

 
The Fund’s long term objectives are to grow the assets under management of the Fund organically by producing 

superior risk adjusted returns for investors as well as by continuing to sell Units of the Fund to investors.  The Fund 

will hold securities of mid to large capitalization with a focus on earnings growth.  The Fund’s managers will seek 

undervalued securities and aim to capture dividend paying investments when appropriate. The objective of the Fund 

is to provide its Unitholders with a total portfolio solution managed by a group of managers in order to provide 

geographical and sector specific diversification. 

 
2.5         Short Term Objectives and How We Intend to Achieve Them 

 
The Fund’s objectives for the next 12 months are to continue offering Units pursuant to this Offering Memorandum 

and to execute the Fund’s investment objectives described above.  The Fund’s management team will provide product 

knowledge education to the advisor teams of the principal distributor who choose to advise their clients to hold the 

investment in their accounts. 

 
2.6         Insufficient Funds (not applicable) 

 
2.7         Material Agreements 

 
The following is a list of agreements which are material to this Offering and to the Fund, all of which are in effect: 

(a)  the Trust Agreement as described below and as described further in Item 5.1 “Terms of Securities”; 

(b)  the Services Agreement as described below; 

(c)  the Custodial Agreement as described below; 

(d)  the Fund Accounting and Shareholder Record-Keeping Agreement as described below; and 

 
(e)  the Investment Management Agreement as described below. 

 
Copies of these agreements may be inspected during normal business hours at the office of the Manager, 3100 – 1021 

West Hastings Street, Vancouver, British Columbia. 

 
Trust Agreement 

 
The Trust Agreement is the constating document of the Fund and describes the terms and conditions respecting the 

issuance and redemption of Units, investment and valuation of the Fund’s assets, determination and distribution of 

gains, management and administration of the Fund, duties of the Manager and Trustee, meetings of Unitholders and 

how the Trust Agreement can be terminated or amended. 
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Matters related to the Trust Agreement are summarized elsewhere in this Offering Memorandum.  See in particular 

the disclosure under Item 5 “Securities Offered”. 

 
The following is a summary only of certain additional material provisions of the Trust Agreement not disclosed 

elsewhere in this Offering Memorandum and does not purport to be complete. 

 
•  Head Office. The head office and the principal office of the administration of the Fund is in Vancouver, 

British Columbia at the address of the Manager or at such other location as designated by the Manager. 

 
•  Consolidation or Subdivision of Units.  Units may be consolidated or subdivided by the Manager upon the 

Manager giving at least 21 days’ prior written notice to the Trustee and to each Unitholder of its determination 

to do so. 

 
•  Powers and Duties of the Manager.  The Trust Agreement grants the Manager exclusive power to manage and 

direct the investment of the assets of the Fund and the powers necessary to perform its duties.  The Trustee 

has no responsibility for investment management of the securities or other property of the Fund or for any 

investment decisions. 

 
•  Removal of Trustee.  The Trustee may be removed by the Manager at any time by notice to the Trustee not less 

than 60 days’ prior to the date that such removal is to take effect provided a successor trustee is appointed or 

the Fund is terminated. 

 
•  Status of Unitholders.  The ownership of all property of the Fund of every description and the rights to 

conduct the affairs of the Fund are vested exclusively in the Trustee and the Manager and the Unitholders 

have no interest other than their beneficial interest in the Fund. 

 
•  Liability of Unitholders.   No Unitholder will be held to have any personal liability as such for any 

obligation or claim arising out of or in connection with any contract or obligation of the Fund, the Manager or 

the Trustee. 

 
•  Unitholder Meetings.  The Manager will, upon the written request of Unitholders of a Class holding not less 

than 50% of the outstanding Units of that Class, call a meeting of Unitholders of that Class.  A holder of a 

Unit of one Class shall not be permitted to notice of, or to attend or vote at, meetings of Unitholders of another 

Class. 

 
•  Termination of Fund.   The Manager may at any time terminate and dissolve the Fund by giving to the 

Trustee and each then Unitholder written notice of its intention to terminate at least 90 days before the date on 

which the Fund is to be terminated. 

 
•  Amendment of Trust Agreement.    Any provision of the  Trust Agreement may be  amended, deleted, 

expanded or varied with the consent of the Unitholders (in connection with certain purposes described in the 

Trust Agreement), together with the consent of the Trustee if any change restricts any protection provided to 

the Trustee or increases the responsibilities of the Trustee thereunder.  Subject to certain exceptions, any 

provision of the Trust Agreement may be amended, deleted, expanded or varied by the Manager, with the 

approval of the Trustee, if the amendment is, in the opinion of counsel to the Manager, not a material change 

and does not adversely affect the pecuniary value of the interest of any Unitholders of the Fund or restrict any 

protection provided to the Trustee or increase the responsibilities of the Trustee thereunder. 

 
Services Agreement 

 
The Manager entered into the Services Agreement with NBCN Inc. on May 20, 2015, as amended on March 16, 2016  

and January 5, 2017, pursuant to which NBCN Inc., on a fee for service basis, provides trade execution, settlement and 

allocation services for the Fund.  Either party may terminate the Services Agreement at any time subject to prior written 

notice of 30 days’ provided that all debts between parties are fully settled. 

 
 

Custodial Agreement 
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The Manager entered into the Custodial Agreement with NBCN Inc. on May 20, 2015, pursuant to which NBCN Inc. 

provides custodial services to the Fund for a monthly custodial fee.   Either party may terminate the Custodial 

Agreement at any time subject to prior written notice of 90 days. 

 
Fund Accounting and Shareholder Record-Keeping Agreement 

 
The Manager entered into the Fund Accounting and Shareholder Record-Keeping Agreement with NBCN Inc. on May 

20, 2015, as amended on March 16, 2016 and March 17, 2017,  pursuant to which NBCN Inc. performs Fund 

accounting, valuation, registry, transfer agency, administrative and trust accounting services for monthly and other 

periodic fees as registrar and Administrator of the Fund. Either party may terminate the Agreement at any time subject 

to prior written notice of 90 days. 

 
Investment Management Agreement 

 
The Manager entered into an Investment Management Agreement with Harbourfront Wealth Management Inc. on May 

20, 2015, pursuant to which Harbourfront manages the investment of the account for a quarterly fee. Either party 

may terminate this agreement at any time on 30 days prior written notice. 

 
Administration Fees and Expenses 

 
The Fund is responsible for the payment of all fees and expenses relating to its operation, including the fees and 

expenses of the audit, accounting, administration (other than advertising and promotional expenses which are paid for 

by the Manager), record keeping and legal fees and expenses, custody and safekeeping charges, all costs and expenses 

associated with the qualification for sale of Units, providing financial and other reports to Unitholders and convening 

and conducting meetings of Unitholders, all taxes, assessments or other governmental charges levied against the 

Fund, interest and all brokerage and other fees relating to the purchase and sale of the assets of the Fund . 

 
With respect to the Fund’s ongoing operating fees and expenses, the Manager pays the Fund’s service providers as 

invoices are received and then seeks cost recovery from the Fund on a periodic basis throughout the year. Offering and 

organizational expenses will initially be paid by the Manager and recovered from the fund over a two year basis. Certain 

costs such as commission expenses, wire transfer fees and margin interest are paid directly out of the Fund’s assets.  The 

Manager will pay for all expenses associated with the identification and management of the Fund’s investments 

(other than the noted direct expenses such as margin interest and brokerage fees, which are the responsibility of the 

Fund as noted above). 

 
ITEM 3 - INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS, MANAGEMENT, PROMOTERS AND PRINCIPAL HOLDERS 

 
3.1         Compensation and Securities Held 

 
The following table sets out information about each director and officer of the Manager, each promoter of the Fund and 

each person who directly or indirectly beneficially owns or controls 10% or more of the Units of the Fund. 

 
 

 

 

 

 

Name and municipality 

of principal residence 

 
 
 

 

Positions held and 

the date of 

obtaining that 

position 

Compensation paid 

by the Fund in the 
year ended 

December 31, 2016 

and anticipated to be 

paid in the current 

financial year 

 
 

 

Number, type and 

percentage of 

securities held as at  

March 31, 2017 

 
 

 

Number, type and 

percentage of 

securities held after 

this offering 

 
WILLOUGHBY ASSET 

MANAGEMENT INC. 

 
Promoter 

 

861,798
(1) 

 
Nil 

 

-
(3) 

 

LYNN STIBBARD 

Surrey, BC 

 

Chief Financial 

Officer, Director 

Nil
(2) 

 

Nil -
(3) 

 

MARTIN MIYATA 

Vancouver, BC 

 

 

Chief Compliance 

Officer 

 

Nil 
 

Nil 

 

-
(3) 
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Name and municipality 

of principal residence 

 
 

 
 

Positions held and 

the date of 

obtaining that 

position 

Compensation paid 

by the Fund in the 
year ended 

December 31, 2016 

and anticipated to be 

paid in the current 

financial year 

 
 

 

Number, type and 

percentage of 

securities held as at  

March 31, 2017 

 
 

 

Number, type and 

percentage of 

securities held after 

this offering 
 

DANIEL POPESCU 

West Vancouver, BC 

 

President, Chief 

Executive Officer, 

Director and 

Ultimate 

Designated Person 

Nil
(2) 

 

3,194.361 Class F 

Units / 0.072% 

 

-
(3) 

 

KELLY HEMMETT 

Winnipeg, MB 

 

Director Nil
(2) 

 

2,060.402 Class F 

Units/ 0.046% 

 

-
(3) 

 

Notes: 
 

(1) This amount is comprised of the Management Fee and Performance Fee paid to the manager for its services.  See “Business 

of the Fund - Manager”. 

(2) This individual is a director of the Manager. Although she/he does not receive compensation from the Fund, the 

 Manager does receive a Management Fee and Performance Fee for its services. See “Business of the Fund – Manager”.  

(3) The Manager and the directors and officers of the Manager may acquire Units under this Offering Memorandum;

  however, the number of Units, if any, which may be acquired is not known. 

 
3.2         Management Experience 

 
The senior management of the Manager have a broad background of investment and capital market experience which is 

brought to bear on the activities undertaken by the Manager on behalf of the Fund.   The following table discloses 

the principal occupations of the directors and senior officers of the Manager over the past five years. 
 
 

Name Principal occupations and related experience 

LYNN STIBBARD, CPA, 
CGA, MBA 

Chief Financial Officer, 

Director 

Ms. Stibbard is the Chief Financial Officer and a Director of Willoughby and of the 
Harbourfront group of companies. Prior to joining the Harbourfront group she held senior 

executive roles in several IIROC member firms including Chief Financial Officer, Chief 

Compliance Officer and President, over a 14 year period. Ms. Stibbard also has 18 years 

of experience in public practice accounting with Ellis Foster (now Ernst & Young), a 

regional CA firm, specializing in providing panel auditor and consulting services in the 

brokerage industry. She is a member of the Pacific District Council and the financial 

administrators section of IIROC, and has completed the IIROC PDO, CFO and CCO 

qualifying examinations. 

   MARTIN MIYATA 
Chief Compliance 

Officer 

Mr. Miyata is the Chief Compliance Officer of Harbourfront Wealth Management Inc. 

and of Willoughby.  He has over twenty-five years of industry experience in various senior 

compliance roles.  He is qualified as an Investment Advisor and a Branch Manager and 

has also completed the IIROC Partners, Directors and Seniors Officers exam and Chief 

Compliance Officer qualifying examinations. 
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Name Principal occupations and related experience 

DANIEL POPESCU, CFP, 

FMA, FCS 

President, CEO, 

Director and Ultimate 

Designated Person 

Mr. Popescu is the President, CEO and UDP of Harbourfront Wealth Management Inc., 

an IIROC member securities dealer and affiliate of Willoughby Asset Management Inc. 

Mr. Popescu has 18 years of industry experience which includes investment management, 

financial planning, banking and lending.   Prior to his role with the Harbourfront group 

of companies, Mr. Popescu was a Senior Vice President and Investment Advisor with 

National Bank Financial, heading a team of advisors providing comprehensive wealth 

management services to private retail clients.  In the past he has been a part owner of 

Wellington West Capital, and has had extensive involvement in advisor recruiting and 

training. 

KELLY HEMMETT, CFP 

Director 

Mr. Hemmett is a Senior Investment Advisor and Certified Financial Planner with 

Harbourfront Wealth Management Inc., an IIROC member dealer and affiliate of 

Willoughby Asset Management Inc.  Mr. Hemmett has over 26 years of experience 

working with high net worth clients. Prior to joining Harbourfront in 2013, Mr. Hemmett 

was a Senior Executive Financial Consultant and Division Director for a major national 

MFDA registered firm, and was recognized as the Top Advisor in Manitoba, during his 

time there.    

 

3.3         Penalties, Sanctions and Bankruptcy 

 
There are no penalties, sanctions, declarations of bankruptcy, voluntary assignments in bankruptcy, proposals under 

any bankruptcy or insolvency legislation or proceedings, arrangements or compromises with creditors, appointments 

of a receiver, receiver manager or trustee to hold assets, that have been in effect during the last ten years against or 

in connection with any of the directors, senior officers or control persons of the Fund or the Manager or any issuer 

of which any director, senior officer or control person of the Fund or the Manager was a director, senior officer or 

control person. 

 
3.4         Loans 

 
There are no loans due to or from the directors, management, promoters and principal holders of the Manager in 

respect of the Fund. 
 

ITEM 4 - CAPITAL STRUCTURE 

 
4.1         Share Capital  

Description of security Number authorized to be issued Number outstanding as at March 

31, 2017(2) 

Units
(1)

:   

Class A Unlimited 57,136.532 

Class F Unlimited 4,440,651.671 

(1) The attributes and characteristics of each Class of Units is set forth under the heading Item 5 “Securities Offered  - Terms of 

Securities”. 

(2)  As at March 31, 2017 the issued and outstanding Units had the following Net Asset Values:  Class A $10.2633 per Unit and Class F 
$10.386 per Unit. 

4.2 Long Term Debt Securities 

 
The Fund has no long term debt. 

 
4.3 Prior Sales  

 
The table below discloses information regarding the Units that were issued at the month-end of the 12 month period 

from April 1, 2016 to March 31, 2017. 
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Description of 

Security 

Number of Units 

Issued 

Price per unit Total funds received 

Class A Units 30,249.06 10.1127 $305,900.00 

Class F Units 766,885.91 10.1110 $7,753,984.00 

 

Within the 12 months from April 1, 2016 to March 31, 2017, an aggregate of nil Class A Units and Class F 

249,087.69 units have been redeemed for an aggregate gross redemption amount of $2,545,289.99. 

 

ITEM 5 - SECURITIES OFFERED 

 

5.1         Terms of Securities 

 
The Fund is an open-end investment fund which was established on May 13, 2015 pursuant to the Trust Agreement. 

 
Units 

 
The beneficial interest in the Fund is divided into interests of multiple Classes each referred to as Units.  Each Unit 

within a particular Class will be of equal value, however the value of a Unit in one Class may differ from the value 

of a Unit in another Class.  Each Class and its Units and fractions thereof will be issued only as fully paid and non-

assessable. There is no limit to the number of Units or the number of Classes of Units that may be issued, subject to 

any determination to the contrary made by the Manager.  No Class of Units or fraction thereof shall have any rights, 

preferences or priorities over any other Class of Units, except in respect of voting rights 

 
An unlimited number of Class A and Class F Units are being offered under this Offering Memorandum on a 

continuous basis to investors in the province of British Columbia, and in Alberta, Saskatchewan, Manitoba and 

Ontario pursuant to certain other exemptions from the prospectus requirements contained in the securities legislation 

of those provinces.  Closings of the sale of Units offered hereunder take place weekly, on the last Business Day of each 

week. See “Subscription Procedure” below. 

 
The subscription price for the Units is based upon the applicable Net Asset Value of the Units. The Net Asset Value 

per Unit for subscriptions which are received and accepted by the Manager before the close of business on a Valuation 

Day are calculated as of that Valuation Day. The Net Asset Value per Unit for subscriptions received and accepted 

after such time are calculated on the next following Valuation Day. 

 
The Trust Agreement is the constating document of the Fund and describes the terms and conditions respecting the 

issuance and redemption of Units, investment and valuation of the Fund’s assets, determination and distribution of 

gains, management and administration of the Fund, duties of the Manager and Trustee, meetings of Unitholders and 

how the Trust Agreement can be terminated or amended. See Item 2.7 “Material Agreements – Trust Agreement”. 

 
Voting 

 
Each Unitholder is entitled to one vote for each whole Unit held.  No holder of a fraction of a Unit, as such, is 

entitled to notice of, or to attend or to vote at, meetings of Unitholders. A holder of a Unit of one class is not permitted 

to notice of, or to attend or vote at, meetings of Unitholders of another class. 

 
Certificates 

 
No certificates evidencing the ownership of Units will be issued. 

 
Valuation Procedures 

 
The “Net Asset Value” of the Fund is the then fair market value of the assets of the Fund at the time the calculation 

is made less the amount of its liabilities at that time.  The Net Asset Value of each Class (the “Class Net Asset Value”) 

is the then fair market value of the assets of the Fund attributable to such Class less the amount of  the  liabilities of  

the  Fund  attributable to  such  Class  as  determined by the  Manager acting reasonably in accordance with industry 

standards including accruing fees or liabilities (including any Performance Fee that may accrue in favour of the 

Manager), at that time.  The “Net Asset Value per Unit” for each Class is the quotient obtained by dividing the amount 

equal to the Class Net Asset Value by the total number of outstanding Units in such Class, including fractions of Units.  

The Net Asset Value of the Fund, Class Net Asset Value and the Net Asset Value per Unit is computed by the 

Manager as provided in the Trust Agreement as at the close of business on every Valuation Day. 
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The fair market value of the assets and the amount of the liabilities of the Fund in the aggregate and attributable to 

each Class, is calculated by the Manager in such manner as the Manager in its sole discretion shall determine from 

time to time, subject to the following: 

 
(a)         liquid assets (which term includes cash on hand or on deposit, bills and demand notes, accounts receivable, 

prepaid expenses, cash dividends (including unpaid but declared dividends provided that the record date for 

such dividends is on or before the date of determination of the Net Asset Value) and interest accrued and not 

yet received) will be valued at their full face amount unless the Manager determines that any such deposit, 

bill, demand note, account receivable, prepaid expense, cash dividend or interest amount is not worth the full 

face value, in which event the value shall be the fair value as determined by the Manager; 

 
(b)         securities listed on a stock exchange will be valued at the closing sale price or, if there is no closing sale 

price, the average of the closing bid and closing asked price or lacking any recent sales or any record 

thereof, the latest available sale price or latest available bid price all as reported by any report in common 

use; 

 
(c)         securities and other assets for which market quotations are not readily available will be valued at fair value 

on a basis as determined by the Manager; 

 
(d)         the value of any publicly traded bonds, debentures, and other debt obligations shall be valued by taking the 

average of the bid and ask prices on a Valuation Day at such times as the Manager, in its discretion, deems 

appropriate; 

 
(e)         short-term investments, including notes and money market instruments, shall be valued at cost plus accrued 

interest; 

 
(f)          all Fund property valued in a foreign currency and all liabilities and obligations of the Fund payable by the 

Fund in foreign currency shall be converted into Canadian funds by applying the rate of exchange obtained 

from the best sources available to the Administrator including, but not limited to, the Administrator or any 

of its affiliates; 

 
(g)         the value of any security, the resale of which is restricted or limited by reason of a representation, 

undertaking or agreement by the Fund or by the Fund’s predecessor in title or by law shall be the lesser of 

(i) the value thereof based on reported quotations in common use; and (ii) that percentage of the market value 

of securities of the same class, the trading of which is not restricted or limited by reason of any 

representation, undertaking or agreement or by law, equal to the percentage that the Fund’s acquisition cost 

was of the market value of such securities at the time of acquisition, provided that a gradual taking into 

account of the actual value of the securities may be made where the date on which the restrictions will be 

lifted is known; 

 
(h)         the value of any security which is a debt obligation and which, at the time of acquisition, had a remaining 

term to maturity of one year or less, shall be the amount paid to acquire the obligation plus the amount of 

any interest accrued on such obligation since the time of acquisition. For the purposes of the foregoing, 

interest accrued will include amortization over the remaining term to maturity of any discount or premium 

from face value of an obligation at the time of its acquisition; and 

 
(i)          the liabilities of the Fund shall be deemed to include all liabilities of the Fund of whatsoever kind and 

nature except liabilities represented by outstanding Units and, for greater certainty but without limitation, 

include: 

 
(i) all bills, notes and accounts payable; 

 

(ii) all administrative expenses payable or accrued; 

 

(iii) all obligations for the payment of money or property, including distributions of net income and net 

realized capital gains, if any, declared, accrued or credited to the Unitholders but not yet paid on the 

day before the day as of which the Net Asset Value per Unit is being determined; and 
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(iv)  all allowances authorized or approved by the Manager for taxes (if any) or contingencies. 

 

The value of any security or property to which, in the opinion of the Manager, the above valuation principles cannot 

be applied (whether because no price or yield equivalent quotations are available as above provided, or for any other 

reason) shall be the fair value thereof determined in such manner as the Manager from time to time provides. 

 
Where, for the purposes of the foregoing calculation of the Net Asset Value of the Fund, the Class Net Asset Value 

and the Net Asset Value per Unit and the calculation of any distributions hereunder, the Manager is provided with a 

value, quotation, or other information related thereto by a third party (collectively “Third Party Data”), including 

without limitation, any third party data provider, any investment manager of the Fund appointed by the Manager or 

such investment manager’s respective agents, the Manager may rely on such Third Party Data and shall not be 

required to make any investigation or inquiry as to the accuracy, completeness or validity of such Third Party Data . 

If such Third Party Data is not available to the Manager as of a time reasonably proximate to the Valuation Day, 

such valuation of the securities or other assets of the Fund shall be based on an estimate or estimates provided by the 

Manager.  Such estimate or estimates will be final and binding and will be considered to be the actual value of such 

securities or other assets for the purposes of any distribution, Net Asset Value of the Fund, Class Net Asset Value or 

Net Asset Value per Unit calculations.   Neither the Manager nor the Trustee shall have any responsibility or 

liability, whatsoever, for any loss or damage arising out of or in connection with the Manager’s reliance on or any 

failure to provide such Third Party Data or any such estimates. 

 
The Manager utilizes the services of the Administrator in the process of calculating the Net Asset Values; however, 

the completeness and accuracy of this calculation is ultimately the responsibility of the Manager.  While the goal is 

to produce completely accurate valuations at all times, errors and adjustments may occur periodically. The Manager 

has put in place procedures to detect and correct any such errors and make appropriate adjustments, if necessary. 

The Trustee shall have no responsibility for and bear no liability with respect to the determination of the Net Asset 

Value of the Fund, Class Net Asset Value or Net Asset Value per Unit. 

 
Distribution of Income and Capital Gains to Unitholders 

 
The Fund distributes its net income for tax purposes and net realized capital gains (less capital losses) so that the Fund 

is not liable in any year for income tax. Such distributions, if any, will be declared on a date determined by the 

Manager, and will be reinvested in additional Units of the same Class of the Fund held by the investor, unless the 

Unitholder gives written notice to the Manager in advance that the Unitholder wants to receive its distributions in 

cash. 

 
Trading and Resale Restrictions 

 
This Offering of Units is made only on a private placement basis to investors who are eligible to purchase on an 

exempt basis under, and subject to compliance with, applicable securities laws.  There is no market for the Units. 

The transferability of the Units is subject to resale restrictions under applicable securities laws. 

 
The Fund is entitled to require and may require, as a condition of allowing any transfer of any Unit, the transferor or 

transferee, at their expense, to furnish to the Fund evidence satisfactory to it in form and substan ce (which may 

include an opinion of counsel satisfactory to the Fund) in order to establish that such transfer will not constitute a 

violation of the securities laws of any jurisdiction whose securities laws are applicable thereto. 

 
The Fund is not a reporting issuer in any of the provinces or territories of Canada and does not intend to become 

reporting in any province or territory of Canada. The Units are subject to an indefinite hold period. Notwithstanding 

such indefinite hold period, and subject to approval by the Fund as referred to above, investors may be able to transfer 

between certain Classes of Units (transfers between Class A and Class F Units will generally be permitted) and to 

transfer Units to another person pursuant to another exemption from the prospectus requirements of  applicable 

securities laws,  or  pursuant  to  an  order  permitting such  trade  granted  by applicable securities regulatory 

authorities. This matter should be discussed with the Manager. See “Transfer Between Classes of Units” below. Units 

may also be redeemed on the last Business Day of each week. See “Redemption Procedure” below. 

 
Transfer Between Classes of Units 

 
A Unitholder of any Class may be entitled to transfer, at any time, all or, subject to any minimum investment o r 

other requirements for a particular Class prescribed by the Manager and set forth in this Offering Memorandum (or 

other like document), any part of the Units of one Class registered in its name to another Class of Units, by giving 
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written notice to the Manager. The notice must contain a clear request that a specified number of Units (or fractions 

thereof) be transferred between the Classes and provide detailed instructions regarding the Class of Units to be 

acquired, and the signature on the transfer notice must be guaranteed by a Canadian chartered bank, a trust company 

or securities dealer acceptable to the Manager.  The Administrator, in its capacity as registrar of the Fund, may 

charge a fee to the Unitholder to effect a transfer of Units between Classes. As of the date of this Offering 

Memorandum, transfers between Class A and Class F Units will generally be permitted, subject to such transfers 

being in compliance with applicable securities laws. 

 
Redemption Procedure 

 
Each Unitholder is entitled to require payment of the Net Asset Value of all or any of his Units by giving written 

notice to the Manager, which notice must contain a clear request that a specified number of Units of a specified 

Class are to be redeemed or the dollar amount which the Unitholder is required to be paid, and the signature on the 

redemption notice must be guaranteed by a Canadian chartered bank, a trust company or a registered broker or 

securities dealer acceptable to the Manager. 

 
The Manager may, at its discretion, charge Unitholders a redemption charge in an amount up to a maximum of 3.0% 

of the Net Asset Value of the Units being redeemed if their Units are redeemed before they have held them for 120 

days.  In addition, the Administrator, in its capacity as registrar of the Fund, may charge a fee to the Unitholder to 

effect a redemption of Units. 

 
A redemption request, properly completed, must be received by the Manager at its offices not later than the close of 

business on a Valuation Day in order for the redeeming Unitholder to receive the Net Asset Value Per Unit calculated 

on that Valuation Day. 

 
The proceeds payable on redemption will be the applicable Net Asset Value of the Units redeemed, which may vary 

from Class to Class, less any applicable redemption charges. The Manager will, within 5 Business Days after the 

Valuation Day, and subject to receipt of written notice in respect of redemption requests by the Manager, arrange for 

the payment of the value of the Units being redeemed by mailing or delivering a cheque in the relevant amount in 

Canadian funds to the Unitholder.  Upon the redemption of any Class of Units by a Unitholder, the accrued portion 

of any Performance Fee liability allocated to the redeemed Units for that Class will be payable by the Fund within 

10 Business Days of the end of the month in which the Units were redeemed. 

 
Redemption requests will be processed in the order in which they are received.  Redemption requests specifying a 

forward date or specific price will not be processed.  The Fund is not required to redeem or pay any redemption 

amounts in respect of any Units unless the above described procedures are followed. 

 
The Manager may suspend, or continue suspension of the right of a Unitholder to require the Fund to redeem Units 

for any period during which normal trading is suspended on any market on which a substantial part of the securities 

owned by the Fund are then listed or with the consent of the appropriate securities regulatory authorities for any 

period during which the Manager determined that conditions are such that the disposal of the assets of the Fund is 

not reasonably practicable or it is not reasonably practicable to determine fairly the value of the Fund’s assets. 

 

Units may generally be redeemed on the last Business Day of any week. Redemption amounts will be paid out 

within 5 Business Days of the redemption date and may be subject to an early redemption fee. 

 
5.2         Subscription Procedure 

 
Investors may purchase Units of the Fund only through Harbourfront, the exclusive selling agent of the Fund. 

Harbourfront will process orders on behalf of the Manager or it’s designate at its principal office via electronic 

communication facilities without charge to the investor on the day on which investor orders are placed. 

 
The Class F Units are available for sale to retail investors through Harbourfront, and purchasers of Class F Units pay 

fees to Harbourfront in respect of holdings of Class F Units, such fees to be based on the fee agreements in 

place between Harbourfront and the purchasers. The assets of the Fund represented by the Class F Units are subject to 

operating costs, administrative expenses and the Management Fee and Performance Fee. 

 
The Manager pays part of the Management Fee (1%) charged to the Fund in respect of the Class A Units to 

Harbourfront, as selling agent, in the form of an ongoing service fee known as a “trailing commission”. Service fees 

are calculated based on the aggregate value of the clients’ investments in Class A Units of the Fund on each Valuation 
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Day equal to 1/52 of 1% of the Net Asset Value of the Class A Units held by the clients on such Valuation Day.  No 

service fees are payable in respect of the Class F Units.  See Item 7 “Compensation Paid to Sellers and Finders”. 

 
The minimum initial investment in the Fund for either Class A or Class F Units is $500 (or such lesser amount as the 

Manager, in its sole discretion, may accept). This $500 may be spread across different accounts.  The Manager may 

in its discretion waive the minimum investment amount, accept investments in other minimum amounts permitted 

under applicable securities laws, or require higher minimum investment amounts. 

 
Each prospective and qualified investor who desires to subscribe for Units must: 

 
(a) complete and sign a Subscription Agreement in the form accompanying this Offering Memorandum, 

specifying the aggregate subscription amount and the Class of Units being subscribed for; and 

 
(b) deliver to the Manager or its designate, in trust, an electronic funds transfer via the FundSERV network for 

the subscription price payable for the Units subscribed for (or other means satisfactory to the Manager). 

 
Subscriptions will be received subject to prior sale and acceptance of the investor’s subscription, in whole or in part 

(subject to compliance with applicable securities laws), by the Manager on behalf of the Fund. 

 
The purchase price per Unit is an amount equal to the Net Asset Value per Unit subscribed for and may vary from 

Class to Class. The Net Asset Value per Unit for subscriptions which are received and accepted by the Manager before 

the close of business on a Valuation Day will be calculated as of that Valuation Day. The Net Asset Value per Unit for 

subscriptions received and accepted after such time will be calculated on the next following Valuation Day. 

 
The subscription price is payable by the investor upon subscription, by electronic funds transfer via the FundSERV 

network or other means satisfactory to the Manager.  No financing of the subscription price will be provided by the 

Manager. 

 
The subscription amounts, Subscription Agreements and other documents will be held in trust by the Manager and 

released upon closing. Where required pursuant to National Instrument 45-106 Prospectus Exemptions, the 

subscription amount will be held in trust by the Manager until midnight on the second Business Day after the investor 

signs a Subscription Agreement.  Closings will occur on a continuous basis on the last Business Day of each week 

in which subscriptions are received. 

 
All subscription documents should be reviewed by prospective subscribers and their professional advisers 

prior to subscribing for Units. 

 
Qualified Investors 

 
The Manager is offering for sale an unlimited number of Units on a continuous basis in the provinces listed below 

by way of private placement. 

 

The Offering is being conducted: 

 
(a) in the province of British Columbia pursuant to the exemptions from the prospectus requirements afforded 

by Sections 2.3, 2.9 and 2.10 of NI 45-106; and 

 
(b) in the provinces of Alberta, Saskatchewan, Manitoba and Ontario pursuant to the exemptions from the 

prospectus requirements afforded by Sections 2.3 and 2.10 of NI 45-106. 

 
The exemption pursuant to Section 2.3 of NI 45-106 is available for distributions to investors purchasing as 

principal and who are “accredited investors” as defined in NI 45-106. 

 
The exemption pursuant to Section 2.9 of NI 45-106 is available for distributions only to investors in British 

Columbia, purchasing as principals, who receive this Offering Memorandum prior to signing the Subscription 

Agreement and who sign a risk acknowledgement in the prescribed form attached to the Subscription Agreement. 

 
The exemption pursuant to Section 2.10 of NI 45-106 is available for distributions to non-individual investors 

purchasing as principals where the trade is made in a security that has an aggregate acquisition cost to the investor of 

not less than $150,000, paid in cash at the time of acquisition. 
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The foregoing exemptions relieve the Fund from the provisions of the applicable securities laws of each of the 

provinces British Columbia, Alberta, Saskatchewan, Manitoba and Ontario, which otherwise would require the Fund 

to file and obtain a receipt for a prospectus. Accordingly, prospective investors for Units will not receive the benefits 

associated with a subscription for securities issued pursuant to a filed prospectus, including the review of material by 

securities regulatory authorities. 

 
The Fund will use qualified dealers or brokers to sell Units of the Fund and may enter into non-exclusive agency 

agreements with such brokers or dealers in connection with such sales. 

 
Acceptance of Subscriptions 

 
Subscriptions received are subject to rejection or allotment in whole or in part by the Manager on behalf of the Fund 

within 5 days of their receipt by the Manager or its designate. The Manager reserves the right to close the subscription 

books at any time without notice. Confirmation of the acceptance of a subscription will be forwarded by the Manager 

to the investor. The Manager is not obligated to accept any subscriptions, and will reject any subscription which the 

Manager considers to be not in compliance with applicable securities laws and regulations. If any subscription is 

rejected, the Manager will return to the investor within 5 days after making the decision to reject the subscription, the 

Subscription Agreement, any other documentation delivered by the investor, and the subscription funds comprising 

such subscription. 

 
Subject to the contractual rights of action, and a two day right of withdrawal for certain investors provided for 

herein, and subject to applicable securities laws, the investor’s subscription may not be withdrawn, cancelled, 

terminated or revoked by the investor for a period of 5 days from the date of receipt of the subscription by the 

Manager, unless previously accepted by the Manager. 

 
Units of the Fund will be issued to an investor if a Subscription Agreement substantially in the form prescribed by 

the Manager from time to time is received by the Fund and accepted by the Manager and if payment of the subscription 

price is made via the FundSERV network or other means satisfactory to the Manager. 

 
An investor who subscribes for Units by executing and delivering a Subscription Agreement will become a 

Unitholder after the Manager accepts such subscription and the Fund has received the subscription price. 

 
Additional investments 

 
Additional investments in the Fund are generally permitted without a Unitholder having to complete a further 

Subscription Agreement, provided that the Unitholder’s initial investment was equal to a minimum of $150,000, the 

additional investment is for the same Class as the initial investment and the Unitholder, as at the date of the additional 

investment, holds securities of the Fund that have an acquisition cost of not less than $150,000 or a net asset value 

of not less than $150,000 (the “Additional Investment Conditions”).  Subsequent purchases on this basis must be 

at least $5,000 or such other amount determined by the Manager at any time, in its discretion. 

 

If a Unitholder wishes to make an additional investment in the Fund but does not meet the Additional Investment 

Conditions, then the Unitholder must complete a further Subscription Agreement. 

 
Unit certificates 

 
No certificates evidencing ownership of the Units will be issued to a Unitholder unless requested in writing by the 

Unitholder. Following each purchase or redemption of Units, Unitholders will receive a written confirmation from 

the Administrator indicating details of the transaction including the Class, number and dollar value of the Units 

purchased or redeemed, the Net Asset Value per Unit and the Class, number and dollar value of Units held by the 

Unitholder following such purchase or redemption. 

 
ITEM 6 – INCOME TAX CONSEQUENCES AND RRSP ELIGIBILITY 

 
6.1         Independent Tax Advice 

 
You should consult your own professional advisers to obtain advice on the income tax consequences that 

apply to you.  Not all securities are eligible for investment in a registered retirement savings plan (RRSP). 

You should consult your own professional advisers to obtain advice on eligibility of these securities for deferred 
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plans. 

 
6.2         Income Tax Consequences 

 
The following summary describes the principal Canadian federal income tax considerations pursuant to the Income 

Tax Act (Canada) (the “Tax Act”) and the regulations thereunder generally applicable to a Unitholder who acquires 

Units of the Fund and who, for purposes of the Tax Act, is resident in Canada, holds the Units as capital property 

and deals at arm’s length with the Fund. Generally, Units of a Fund are considered to be capital property to a 

Unitholder provided the Unitholder does not hold the Units in the course of carrying on a business and has not 

acquired them in one or more transactions considered to be an adventure in the nature of trade. Certain Unitholders 

who might not otherwise be considered to hold their Units as capital property may, in certain circumstances, be 

entitled to have them treated as capital property by making the irrevocable election permitted by subsection 39(4) of 

the Tax Act. 

 
This summary is not applicable to a Unitholder that is a “financial institution” (as defined in the Tax Act for 

purposes of the mark-to-market rules), or a “specified financial institution” or “restricted financial institution” to a 

Unitholder an interest in which is a “tax shelter investment” (all as defined in the Income Tax Act).  This summary 

is based upon the provisions of the Tax Act, and any regulations thereunder in force at the date hereof and the 

understanding of the current published administrative and assessing practices of the Canada Revenue Agency 

(“CRA”) and takes into account all specific proposals to amend the Tax Act and the regulations thereunder publicly 

announced by or on behalf of the Minister of Finance (Canada) (the “Tax Proposals”). There can be no assurance 

that the Tax Proposals will be implemented in their current form or at all. No advance income tax ruling has been 

requested in respect of this Offering.  This summary does not otherwise take into account or anticipate any changes  
in the law, whether by legislative, governmental or judicial action, nor does it take into account provincial, territorial 

or foreign tax considerations, which may differ significantly from those discussed herein. 

 
This summary is not exhaustive of all possible Canadian federal tax considerations applicable to an Investment 

in Units.  Moreover, the income and other tax consequences of acquiring, holding or disposing of Units will 

vary depending on the Unitholders’ particular circumstances, including the province or provinces in which 

the Unitholder resides or carries on business.  Accordingly this summary is of a general nature only and is not 

intended to be legal or tax advice to any prospective purchaser of Units of the Fund or any Unitholder. 

Consequently, prospective Unitholders should consult their own tax advisors for advice with respect to the tax 

consequences of an investment in Units based on their particular circumstances. 

 
Tax Status of the Fund 

 
This summary is based on the assumptions that (i) the Fund qualifies, at all times, as a “mutual fund trust” within the 

meaning of the Tax Act and will elect under the Tax Act to be a “mutual fund trust” from the date it was 

established, (ii) the Fund is not maintained primarily for the benefit of non-residents, and (iii) not more than 

50% (based on fair market value) of the Units will be held by non-residents of Canada or by partnerships that are not 
Canadian partnerships as defined in the Tax Act, or by any combination of such partnerships and non-residents. 

 
In the event that the Fund does not qualify as a “mutual fund trust” at all relevant times, the income tax considerations 

would in some respect be materially different from those described below. 

 
The Fund will not be subject to the “specified flow-through” trust (“SIFT”) rules in the Tax Act as long as Units are 

not listed or traded on a stock exchange or other public market. 

 
Taxation of the Fund 

 
The Fund is subject to taxation in each taxation year on its income for the year, including net realized capital gains, 

less the portion thereof that is paid or payable in the year to Unitholders and which is deducted by the Fund in 

computing its income for purposes of the Tax Act. An amount will be considered to be payable to a Unitholder in a 

taxation year if it is paid in the year by the Fund or the Unitholder is entitled in that year to enforce payment of the 

amount. The Fund intends to distribute a sufficient part of its income and capital gains, if any, so that the Fund will 

not be subject to tax under Part I of the Tax Act (other than in certain circumstances with respect to the alternative 

minimum tax, if applicable).  Losses incurred by the Fund cannot be allocated to Unitholders but may be dedicated 

by the Fund in future years in accordance with the Tax Act. 

 
Taxation of Unitholders 
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Fund distributions 

 
Unitholders which are not exempt from tax under Part I of the Tax Act will generally be required to include in their 

income for a particular taxation year such part of the Fund’s net income for tax purposes for the year as was paid or 

has become payable to them in that particular taxation year, notwithstanding that any such amount is payable in 

additional Units of the Fund (see “Distribution of Income and Capital Gains to Unitholders”). In certain cases, the 

Fund may apply net capital losses or non-capital losses from prior taxation years to reduce its net taxable income, 

thereby effectively permitting such amounts to be distributed as capital to Unitholders. However, any such distribution 

will reduce the adjusted cost base of a Unitholder’s Units. To the extent that the adjusted cost base of a Unitholder’s 

Units becomes negative, the negative amount will be included in the Unitholder’s income for the year as a capital 

gain. 

 
Units issued to a Unitholder in lieu of a cash distribution will have a cost equal to the fair market value of the Units 

and this cost must be averaged with the cost of all Units held by the Unitholder to determine the adjusted cost base 

of each Unit of that Unitholder. 

 
Where the Fund has received taxable dividends from a taxable Canadian corporation in the year, it may designate a 

pro rata share of such dividends to be taxable dividends received by the Unitholder from a taxable Canadian 

corporation in the year. To the extent that amounts are designated as taxable dividends, the normal gross-up and 

dividend tax credit provisions will be applicable in respect of Unitholders who are individuals, the refundable tax 

under Part IV of the Tax Act will be payable by Unitholders who are private corporations and certain other 

corporations controlled directly or indirectly by or for the benefit of an individual or related group of individuals, 

and the deduction in computing taxable income will be available to Unitholders that are corporations. 

 
The Fund may make designations in respect of net taxable capital gains realized by it in the year, and foreign source 

income received in the year and foreign taxes paid in the year. Where applicable, Unitholders may apply capital 

losses against such capital gains and may claim the foreign tax credit in calculating tax payable. 

 
The Fund must withhold a 25% Canadian withholding tax from distributions of income paid to Unitholders who are 

not resident in Canada for Canadian income tax purposes (subject to treaty reduction). 

 
Disposition of units 

 
A Unitholder’s gain or loss from the disposition of a Unit (including a disposition by way of redemption) will 

generally be treated as a capital gain or loss. One-half of any capital gain realized by a Unitholder and the amount of 

any net taxable capital gains designated by the Fund in respect of a Unitholder will be included in the Unitholder’s 

income under the Tax Act for the year of disposition as a taxable capital gain.  Subject to certain specific rules in the 

Tax Act, one-half of any capital loss realized by a Unitholder may be deducted against any taxable capital gains 

realized by the Unitholder in the year of disposition, in the three preceding taxation years or in any subsequent 

taxation years. 

 
Capital gains realized on dispositions of Units by Unitholders who are not resident in Canada for Canadian income 

tax purposes will be subject to Canadian income tax only (i) if the Unitholder, persons who do not deal at arm’s 

length with the Unitholder, or any combination of the Unitholder and such persons owned not less than 25% of the 

issued Units of the Fund at any time in the 60 months preceding the date of disposition of the Units, and (ii) more 

than 50% of the fair market value of such Units is derived directly or indirectly from any combination of real or 

immovable project property situated in  Canada, Canadian Resource properties, timber resource properties, or 

options, interests or civil law rights therein. 

 
Alternative minimum tax 

 
Canadian dividends and capital gains distributed by the Fund to, and taxable capital gains realized by a Unitholder 

that is an individual, may give rise to alternative minimum tax depending on the Unitholder’s circumstances. 

 
6.3         Eligibility for Registered Tax Plans 

 
The Fund is a “mutual fund trust” for purposes of the Tax Act.  Accordingly, Units are qualified investments under 

the Tax Act for Registered Plans.   
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The Fund must have 150 or more Unitholders at all times in order to continue to qualify as a mutual fund trust 

under the Tax Act.  If the Fund ceases to qualify as a mutual fund trust, the Units may cease to be qualified 

investments for trusts governed by RRSPs, RRIFs, registered education saving plans (RESPs), registered disability 

savings plans (RDSPs), TFSAs and deferred profit sharing plans (DPSPs) under the Tax Act.  There can be no 

assurance that income tax laws and the treatment of unit trusts will not be changed in a manner which adversely 

affects Unitholders. Holders of TFSAs, RDSPs, and RESPs and annuitants of RRSPs and RRIFs should consult 

with their own advisors as to whether Units would be “prohibited investments” for such plans for the purposes of the 

Tax Act. 

 

6.4         Common Reporting Standard 

In 2014, the Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development (“OECD”) proposed a model agreement 

between countries on the exchange of information to fight against tax evasion and protect the integrity of tax systems.  In 

June of 2015, Canada signed the Multilateral Competent Authority Agreement, undertaking to implement the Common 

Reporting Standard (“CRS”) for the automatic exchange of financial account information with other tax 

authorities.  More than 100 countries have undertaken to comply with the model agreement and the CRS.  On December 

15, 2016, the Tax Act was amended to include Part XIX entitled Common Reporting Standard, the provisions of which 

will be coming into force on July 1, 2017. 

The goal of the CRS, inspired by intergovernmental approach to the implementation of the U.S. legislation known as 

FATCA, is to identify the residency for tax purposes of the financial institutions’ account holders.  Its implementation 

in Canada will result in Canadian financial institutions declaring to CRA those financial accounts that they maintain for 

individuals and entities whose residency for tax purposes is in a jurisdiction other than Canada or the United States.  The 

CRA will then give those foreign jurisdictions with which it has established a partnership in the context of the CRS 

information on the account holders who reside in these jurisdictions. 

Consequently, the Manager will begin collecting information on new client accounts on July 1, 2017.  In 2018, it will 

report the information collected in 2017 on any new holders whose residency for tax purposes is in a jurisdiction other 

than Canada or the United States.  Any holders of pre-existing accounts whose residency for tax purposes is in a 

jurisdiction other than Canada or the United States may be reported to the CRA starting in 2019.  Each subsequent year, 

the accounts of the preceding year will be reported.  Canadian financial institutions will be required to report the 

following information to the CRA regarding holders of accounts whose residency for tax purposes is in a jurisdiction 

other than Canada or the United States: name, address, account holder taxpayer identification number, date of birth, 

account number, account balance or value at year end, as well as the gross amount paid or credited to the account in the 

course of the year, including the aggregate amount of any redemption payments. 

 
ITEM 7 - COMPENSATION PAID TO SELLERS AND FINDERS 

 
Units are distributed exclusively by Harbourfront, as selling agent to the Fund. 

 
The Manager pays part of the Management Fee (1%) charged to the Fund in respect of the Class A Units to 

Harbourfront, as selling agent, in the form of an ongoing service fee known as a “trailing commission”. Service fees 

are calculated based on the aggregate value of the clients’ investments in Class A Units of the Fund on each Valuation 

Day equal to 1/52 of 1% of the Net Asset Value of the Class A Units held by the clients on such Valuation Day. 

 
The service fee is paid to Harbourfront for ongoing advice and service provided by Harbourfront to its clients who 

have invested in Class A Units of the Fund. This service fee is payable by the Fund for as long as Harbourfront clients’ 

investments remain in the Fund. 

 
No service fees are payable in respect of the Class F Units.  Service fees may be modified or discontinued by the 

Manager at any time. 

 
 

ITEM 8 - RISK FACTORS 

 
An investment in the Fund involves significant risks. In addition to other information in this Offering 

Memorandum, the following risk factors should be given special consideration when evaluating an investment 

in any Units.  The risk factors outlined below are not a definitive list of all risks associated with an investment 

in the Fund. 
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General 

 
Investing in the Fund is only suitable for investors who understand and are capable of bearing the risks of their 

investment. An investment in the Fund is not intended and should not be used as an entire investment program.  All 

investments in securities made by the Fund risk the loss of invested capital.   Therefore, there is a risk that an 

investment in the Fund could be lost entirely or in part.   While the Manager believes that the Fund’s investment 

policies will be successful over the long term, there is no assurance that the Fund will achieve its investment 

objectives. There is no guarantee that an investment in Units of the Fund will earn any positive return in the short or 

long term and investors must be able to bear the risk of a complete loss of their investment. The Fund is not subject 

to normal mutual fund regulations and disclosure requirements for publicly offered mutual funds which limit such 

mutual funds’ ability to use leverage, concentrate investments and use derivatives, but is instead subject to the 

investment restrictions set out herein. 

 
No Market for Units 

 
There is currently no market for the Units and it is not anticipated that any market will develop.  Furthermore, the 

Units are subject to transfer and resale restrictions.   Purchasers should be prepared to hold these securities indefinitely 

and cannot expect to be able to liquidate their investment in the case of an emergency.  Accordingly, an investment in 

Units is suitable solely for persons able to make and bear the economic risk of a long-term investment. 

 
Liquidity 

 
An investment in the Fund provides limited liquidity.  The Units are subject to indefinite resale restrictions under 

applicable securities laws.  The redemption of Units is subject to certain risks and fees and in certain circumstances 

the right to redeem Units may be suspended. See Item 5.1 “Terms of Securities – Redemption Procedure”. 

 
Business Risk 

 
While the Manager believes that the Fund’s investment policies will be successful over the long term, there can be 

no guarantee against losses resulting from an investment in the Units and there can be no assurance that the Fund’s 

investment approach will be successful or that its investment objectives will be attained.  No assurance can be given 

that the Fund’s investment portfolio will generate any income or will appreciate in value.  The Fund could realize 

substantial losses, rather than gains, from some or all of the investments described herein. 

 
No Assurance of Return 

 
Although the Manager will use its best efforts to achieve superior rates of return for the Fund, no assurance can be 

given in this regard.  An investment in Units should be considered as speculative and investors must be able to bear 

the risk of a complete loss of their investment. 

 
Investment Eligibility 

 
The Fund must have 150 or more Unitholders at all times in order to continue to qualify as a mutual fund trust under 

the Tax Act.  If the Fund ceases to qualify as a mutual fund trust, the Units may cease to be qualified investments for 

trusts governed by RRSPs, RRIFs, RESPs, RDSPs, TFSAs and DPSPs under the Tax Act.  There can be no assurance 

that income tax laws and the treatment of unit trusts will not be changed in a manner which adversely affects 

Unitholders. 

 
Limited Operating History 

 
Although persons involved in the management of the Fund and the service providers to the Fund have had long 

experience in their respective fields of specialization, the Fund has a limited operating and performing history upon 

which prospective investors can evaluate the Fund's performance. 

 
 
 

Net Asset Value 

 
The Net Asset Value of each Class of Units that comprise the Fund will fluctuate with changes in the market value 
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of the investments attributable to that Class. Such changes in market value may occur as a result of various factors 

such as changes in interest rates, economic conditions, and market and company news. Therefore, when you redeem 

your Units in the Fund, you may receive less than the full amount you originally invested. The full amount of an 

investment in the Fund is not guaranteed. Unlike bank accounts or guaranteed investment certificates (GICs), mutual 

fund units are not covered by the Canada Deposit Insurance Corporation or any other government deposit insurer. 

 
Potential Lack of Diversification 

 
The Fund does not have any specific limits on holdings in securities of issuers in any one asset class, country, sector 

or industry. Unlike many mutual funds which are required by applicable securities laws to diversify portfolio holdings 

so that no more than a fixed percentage of their assets is invested in any one industry or group of industries, the Fund 

has adopted only limited guidelines for diversification. Although the Fund’s portfolio will generally be diversified, 

this may not be the case at all times if the Manager deems it advantageous for the Fund to be less diversified. 

Accordingly, the investment portfolio of the Fund may be subject to more rapid change in value than would be the 

case if the Fund were required to maintain a wide diversification among companies, industries, regions, types of 

securities and other asset classes. 

 
Portfolio Turnover 

 
The operation of the Fund may result in a high annual portfolio turnover rate. The Fund has not placed any limit on 

the rate of portfolio turnover and portfolio securities may be sold without regard to the time they have been held 

when, in the opinion of the Manager, investment considerations warrant such action. A high rate of portfolio 

turnover involves correspondingly greater expenses than a lower rate (e.g., greater transaction costs such as brokerage 

fees). 

 
Not a Public Mutual Fund 

 
The Fund is not a reporting issuer mutual fund for securities laws purposes and is therefore not subject to the 

restrictions placed on public mutual funds to ensure diversification and liquidity of the Fund’s portfolio, as well as a  
more stringent level of public disclosure of performance.  As a result, some of the protections provided to investors 

in reporting issuer mutual funds under such laws are not available to Unitholders. 

 
Foreign Currency Exposure 

 
It is expected that a significant proportion of the securities held by the Fund will be valued in currencies other than 

the Canadian dollar and that the value of these positions when translated to Canadian dollars may be affected by 

fluctuation in the value of such currencies relative to the Canadian dollar.  The Manager may hedge the Canadian 

dollar exposure to the foreign currency in whole or in part, but there can be no assurances that the gains or losses on 

currency hedging transactions will be matched in timing or characterization with losses and gains on the foreign 

currency securities in which the Fund invests. 

 
Illiquid Securities 

 
A portion of the Fund’s assets may from time to time be invested in securities and other financial instruments or 

obligations for which no market exists and/or which are restricted as to their transferability under local government 

securities laws or practices.  The sale of any such investment may be subject to delays and additional costs and may 

be possible only at substantial discounts. 

 
Use of Derivatives 

 
The Fund may invest in or use derivative instruments, including forward contracts, futures contracts, swaps and 

options for hedging or non-hedging purposes.  Derivatives generally involve certain risks, which may include the 

following: (a) the derivative hedging strategy used to reduce risk may not be effective; (b) the market value of the 

investment being hedged and the derivative instrument being used may not be perfectly correlated; (c) there is no 

guarantee a market will exist when the Fund wants to buy or sell one of the derivative contracts; and (d) the other 

party to the contract may not be able to meet its financial obligations. 

 
Fund of Fund Risk 

 
The Fund may invest all or a portion of its assets in underlying funds.  The proportion of underlying funds held by 
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the Fund will be selected and varied by the Manager, in its sole discretion, in the interest of achieving the investment 

objectives of the Fund.  Underlying funds typically bear their own fees and expenses.  To the extent that the Fund 

invests in underlying funds, it has the same risks as its underlying funds. 

 
Counterparty Risk 

 
The Fund may enter into customized financial instrument transactions for the purpose of executing its foreign currency 

hedges that are subject to the risk of credit failure or the inability of, or refusal by, the counterparty to perform its 

obligations with respect to the hedges, potentially exposing the Fund to significant losses. 

 
Incentive Fee to the Manager 

 
The Manager is eligible to receive a fee if, during a given time period, the performance of the Fund exceeds the 

performance of a specified benchmark. This may theoretically create an incentive for the Manager, in the pursuit of 

superior performance, to make investments that are abnormally risky or generally more speculative than otherwise 

would be the case if no such fee existed. 

 
Limited Resources of Manager 

 
The Manager has no obligation to fund any operating deficits resulting from the business of the Fund or to advance 

funds to continue the business operations of the Fund. Even if the Manager should elect to do so voluntarily or be 

held individually accountable by Fund creditors, there is no assurance that the available assets will be adequate to 

satisfy the capital needs of continuing business operations.  If Fund revenues are insufficient to pay Fund expenses 

after expending the funds obtained from this Offering and if the Manager does not advance such additional funds as 

may be needed by the Fund, the Fund may not be able to continue its business operations in the absence of an 

alternative source of financing, and there can be no assurance that such financing will be available to the Fund. 

 
 

Losses and Effects of Substantial Redemptions 

 
The Fund  may  at  any  time  incur  losses,  resulting  in  substantial  redemptions  by  Unitholders.    Substantial 

redemptions may require the Fund to liquidate positions more rapidly than otherwise desirable to raise the necessary 

cash to fund redemptions and achieve market positions appropriately reflecting a smaller asset base.  There is a risk 

that if the Fund’s assets become depleted, the Fund’s portfolio could become sufficiently restricted to make it difficult 

to achieve the Fund’s investment objectives.  Such factors could adversely affect the value of the Units redeemed 

and of the Units remaining outstanding. 

 
Reliance on Management 

 
The success of the Fund is entirely dependent upon the efforts of the Manager and, in particular, the efforts, knowledge 

and expertise of the Fund’s portfolio managers, who have substantial discretionary authority for investment advisory 

and portfolio management decisions.   There is no certainty that the portfolio managers will remain so in the 

foreseeable future.  Unitholders have no right or power to take part in the management of the Fund . Accordingly, no 

one should invest in Units of the Fund unless they are willing to entrust all aspects of the management and all 

investment decisions of the Fund to the Manager and the portfolio managers. 

 
Legal, Tax and Regulatory Risks 

 
Legal, tax and regulatory changes to laws or administrative practice could occur during the term of the Fund which 

may adversely affect the Fund.   For example, the regulatory or tax environment for derivative instruments is evolving, 

and changes in the regulation or taxation of derivative instruments may adversely affect the value of derivative 

instruments held by the Fund and the ability of the Fund to pursue is investment strategies. Interpretation of the law 

or administrative practice may affect the characterization of the Fund’s earnings as capital gains or income which 

may increase the level of tax borne by investors as a result of increased taxable distributions from the Fund.  There 

can be no assurance that the Canadian federal income tax laws and administrative policies and assessing practices of 

the Canada Revenue Agency respecting the treatment of trusts, including mutual fund trusts, will not be changed in 

a manner that adversely affects the Unitholders.  If the Fund ceases to qualify as a mutual fund trust under the Tax 

Act, the income tax considerations described under Item 6 “Income Tax Consequences and RRSP Eligibility” would 

be materially and adversely different in certain respects. 
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Relationship Between the Fund, the Manager and Affiliates of the Manager and Potential Conflicts of Interest 

 
This fund is available to Harbourfront clients exclusively.  Harbourfront, an IIROC registered broker/ dealer and a 

portfolio adviser, is an affiliate of the Manager. 

 
The Fund may be subject to various conflicts of interest. 

 
Investors may purchase Units of the Fund only through Harbourfront. Class F Units may only be purchased in 

Harbourfront Fee Based and/or Managed Accounts. Purchasers of Class F Units are required to pay fees to 

Harbourfront in respect of holdings of Class F Units and such fees may reduce the amount invested in the Units. 

 
Harbourfront is engaged in a wide variety of management, advisory and other investment dealer business activities. 

Harbourfront’s investment decisions for the Fund will be made independently of those made for the other clients of 

Harbourfront and independently of its own investments. However, on occasion, Harbourfront may make the same 

investment for the Fund and one or more of its other clients. Where the Fund and one or more of the other clients of 

Harbourfront are engaged in the purchase or sale of the same security, the transaction will be effected on an 

equitable basis. Harbourfront will allocate opportunities to make and dispose of investments equitably among clients 

with similar investment objectives having regard to whether the security is currently held in any of the relevant 

investment portfolios, the relative size and rate of growth of the Fund and the other funds under common management 

and such other factors as Harbourfront considers relevant in the circumstances. 

 
Certain of the directors and officers of the Manager are also a director and officer of Harbourfront.  Although the 

Manager will have various obligations to the Fund, situations may arise where the interests of the directors, officers, 

employees and shareholders of the Manager (being the promoter of the Fund) could conflict with the interests of the 

Fund. 

 
The Manager, Harbourfront and their respective officers, directors, employees, and shareholders are not limited or 

affected in their ability to carry on other business ventures for their own account, or for the account of others, and 

may be engaged in the development of, investment in, or management of businesses that may compete with the 

business of the Fund. Investment in the Fund will not carry with it the right of the Fund or of any Unitholder to 

invest in any other venture of the Manager or its affiliates or associates or to any profit therefrom or to any interest 

therein.  The Manager may have a conflict of interest in carrying out its obligations to the Fund as a result of its 

involvement in competing activities. 

 
The Fund will not have an independent review committee or any other form of management oversight and will rely 

exclusively upon the Manager to manage the business of the Fund and to provide managerial skill. The directors, 

officers, employees and shareholders of the Manager may have a conflict of interest in allocating their time between 

the business of the Manager, Harbourfront and that of the Fund, and other businesses or projects in which they may 

become involved. The directors and officers of the Manager have, however, agreed to devote as much time to the Fund 

as is required for the effective management of the Fund. 

 
The Manager as well as employees, directors and officers of the Manager may invest their own money in the Fund 

and may, from time to time, have substantial holdings in the Fund. 

 
The Fund pays the Manager the Management Fee and a Performance Fee (ultimately borne by the holders of the 

different Classes of Units as discussed elsewhere in this Offering Memorandum). 

 
Broad Authority of the Manager 

 
The Trust Agreement gives the Manager broad discretion over the conduct of the Fund’s business, selection of the 

securities in which the Fund invests and over the types of transactions in which the Fund engages. 

 
Involvement in Other and Competing Activities 

 
The Manager and its officers, directors, employees, or shareholders and their respective affiliates and associates are 

not limited or affected in their ability to carry on other business ventures for their own account, or for the account of 

others, and may be engaged in the development of, investment in, or management of businesses that may compete 

with the business of the Fund. Investment in the Fund will not carry with it the right of the Fund or of any 

Unitholder to invest in any other venture of the Manager or its affiliates or associates or to any profit therefrom or to 

any interest therein.  The Manager may have a conflict of interest in carrying out its obligations to the Fund as a 

result of its involvement in competing activities. 
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Competition for Services 

 
The Fund will not have independent management and will rely upon the Manager to manage the business of the 

Fund and to provide investment managerial skill. The directors and officers of the Manager may have a conflict of 

interest in allocating their time among the business of the Manager and the Fund, and other businesses or projects in 

which they may become involved. The directors and officers of the Manager have, however, agreed to devote as 

much time to the Fund as is required for the effective management of the Fund. 

 

 
Lack of Separate Counsel 

 
Counsel for the Fund in connection with this Offering is also counsel to the Manager. The Unitholders, as a group, 

have not been represented by separate counsel and counsel for the Fund and the Manager does not purport to have 

acted for the Unitholders or to have conducted any investigation or review on their behalf. 

 
ITEM 9 - REPORTING OBLIGATIONS 

 
As a Unitholder of the Fund you are entitled to receive copies of the Fund’s audited financial statements. Except as 

may be otherwise required by applicable securities laws, the Fund will, upon request by a Unitholder, make 

audited financial statements for the year ended December 31, available within 120 days after the last day of each 

fiscal year of the Fund. 

 
The Fund is not a reporting issuer in any of the provinces or territories of Canada and does not intend on becoming a 

reporting issuer in any province or territory in Canada. 
 

 
ITEM 10 - RESALE RESTRICTIONS 

 
These securities are subject to a number of resale restrictions, including a restriction on trading.   Until the 

restriction on trading expires, you will not be able to trade these securities unless you comply with an exemption 

from the prospectus and registration requirements under securities legislation. 

 
Unless permitted under securities legislation, you cannot trade the securities before the date that is 4 months and a 

day after the date the Fund becomes a reporting issuer in any Canadian province or territory. 
 

 
ITEM 11 - PURCHASERS’ RIGHTS 

 
If you purchase these securities you will have certain rights, some of which are described below.  For information 

about your rights you should consult your lawyer. 

 
Two Day Cancellation Right - You can cancel your agreement to purchase these securities.  To do so, you must 

send a notice to us by midnight on the 2nd Business Day after you sign the agreement to buy the securities. 

 
Contractual Rights of Action in the Event of a Misrepresentation 

 
If there is a misrepresentation in this Offering Memorandum, you may have a right to sue: 

A. the Fund to cancel your agreement to buy the Units; or 

B. for damages. 

 
This contractual right to sue is available to you whether or not you relied on the misrepresentation.  However, in an 

action for damages, the amount you may recover will not exceed the price that you paid for your securities and will not 

include any part of the damages that the Fund proves does not represent the depreciation in value of the securities 

resulting from the misrepresentation. The Fund has a defense if it proves that you knew of the misrepresentation when 

you purchased the securities. 

 
If you intend to rely on the rights described in A or B above, you must do so within strict time limitations.  You must 
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commence your action to cancel the Subscription Agreement within 180 days after you signed the agreement to purchase 

the Units.  You must commence your action for damages within the earlier of 180 days after learning of the 

misrepresentation or 3 years after you signed the agreement to purchase the Units. 
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ITEM 12 – FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

 

 
 
 

AUDITED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF  

HUDSON TOTAL MANDATE PORTFOLIO FUND 

AS AT DECEMBER 31, 2016 

 
(see attached) 
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ITEM 13 – DATE AND CERTIFICATE 
 

 
 
 

This Offering Memorandum does not contain a misrepresentation. 

 
DATED April 30, 2017 

 
Hudson Total Mandate Portfolio Fund 

 
by its Manager and Promoter 

 
Willoughby Asset Management Inc. 

 
 

         

By:   By:   

 Daniel Popescu   Lynn Stibbard 

 President, Chief Executive Officer and Director  Chief Financial Officer and Director 

 

On behalf of the Board of Directors of the Manager of the Fund 

 

 

By:   By:   

 Daniel Popescu   Lynn Stibbard 

 President, Chief Executive Officer and Director  Chief Financial Officer and Director 

 

 

By:   

 Kelly Hemmett, Director 
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PO Box 10426 777 Dunsmuir Street 
Vancouver BC V7Y 1K3 
Canada 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT 

To the Unitholders of Hudson Total Mandate Portfolio Fund 

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Hudson Total Mandate 

Portfolio Fund, which comprise the statement of financial position as at December 31, 

2016, the statements of comprehensive income, changes in net assets attributable to 

holders of redeemable units and cash flows for the year then ended, and notes, 

comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory 

information. 

The Manager’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements 

The Manager is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial 

statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such 

internal control as the Manager determines is necessary to enable the preparation of 

financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 

error. 

Auditors’ Responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our 

audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing 

standards. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan 

and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial 

statements are free from material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts 

and disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on our 

judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial 

statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, we 

consider internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the 

financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the 

circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of 

the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of 

accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the 

Manager, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to 

provide a basis for our audit opinion. 



 

Hudson Total Mandate Portfolio Fund 
Page 2 

 
 

 

Opinion 

In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the 

financial position of Hudson Total Mandate Portfolio Fund as at December 31, 2016, and 

its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with 

International Financial Reporting Standards. 

 

 

Chartered Professional Accountants 
 
April 13, 2017 

Vancouver, Canada 
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HUDSON TOTAL MANDATE PORTFOLIO FUND 
Statements of Financial Position  
 
December 31, 2016, with comparative information for 2015 
 

  Notes 2016 2015 

 

Assets 
 
Cash and cash equivalents $ 162,558 $ 1,576,575 

Interest and dividends receivable  37,262 23,655 

Investments  45,170,519 27,232,593 

   45,370,339 28,832,823 
 

Liabilities 
 
Management fees payable 4 119,594 24,923 

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities  73,133 76,592 

Performance fees payable 4 614 112,979 

Redemptions payable  73,149 - 

   266,490 214,494 
 

Net assets attributable to holders of  
redeemable units $ 45,103,849 $ 28,618,329 

 
Net assets attributable to holders of 

redeemable units per class: 
Class A $ 561,404 $ 225,418 
Class F  44,542,445 28,392,911 
 

  $ 45,103,849 $ 28,618,329 

 
Number of redeemable units outstanding: 5 

Class A  54,977  22,529 
Class F  4,304,278 2,832,130 

 

 
Net assets attributable to holders of  

redeemable units per unit per class: 
Class A $ 10.21 $ 10.01 
Class F  10.35 10.03 

 

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
 
 
Approved on behalf of the Board of Directors of 

Willoughby Asset Management Inc., in its capacity as Manager: 
 
 
  Director 
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HUDSON TOTAL MANDATE PORTFOLIO FUND 
Statements of Comprehensive Income  
 

    Period from 
    commencement of 
    operations on 
    June 29, 
   Year ended 2015 to 
   December 31 December 31, 
  Notes 2016 2015 

 
Income: 

Dividend Income  $ 291,829 $ 222,459 
Interest income for distribution purposes  558,153 37,330 
Management fee rebates from underlying funds  7,076 1,236 
Foreign exchange gain (loss)  37,424 (4,756) 
Net realized gain on sale of investments   325,419 1,716 
Net change in unrealized appreciation 

in value of investments  2,101,853 431,332  

    3,321,754 689,317 
 
Expenses: 

Performance fees 4 472,221 112,979 
Management fees 4 432,668 67,105 
Operating costs  183,870 41,676 
Audit fees  25,200 25,200 
Withholding tax 6 17,965 2,422 
Custodian fees  12,826 3,105 
Commissions and other portfolio transaction costs  6,844 3,700 
Legal fees 2,352 - 
Offering costs  - 31,546 
   1,153,946 287,733 

 

Increase in net assets attributable to holders 
of redeemable units $ 2,167,808 $ 401,584 

 
Increase in net assets attributable to 

redeemable units per class: 
Class A  $ 12,644 $ 3,868 
Class F  2,155,164 397,716 

 

Increase in net assets attributable to holders 
of redeemable units $ 2,167,808 $ 401,584 

 
Increase in net assets attributable to holders 

of redeemable units per unit per class: 7 
Class A  $ 0.40 $ 0.25 
Class F  0.53 0.33 

 

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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HUDSON TOTAL MANDATE PORTFOLIO FUND 
Statements of Changes in Net Assets Attributable to Holders of Redeemable Units  
 
Year ended December 31, 2016  
 

  Class A Class F 

 
Net assets attributable to holders of 

redeemable units, beginning of period $ 225,418 $ 28,392,911 
 
Increase in net assets attributable to holders of  

redeemable units 12,644 2,155,164 
 
Distributions paid from: 

Return of capital (2,558) (335,594) 
 
Redeemable unit transactions: 

Proceeds from redeemable units issued 325,900  16,343,279 
Reinvestments of distributions to holders of 

redeemable units - 4,546 
Redemption of redeemable units  (2,017,861) 

 

Net assets attributable to holders of 
redeemable units, end of period $ 561,404 $ 44,542,445 

 
 
Period from commencement of operations on June 29, 2015 to December 31, 2015 
 

  Class A Class F 

 
Net assets attributable to holders of 

redeemable units, beginning of period $ - $ - 
 
Increase in net assets attributable to holders of  

redeemable units 3,868 397,716 
 
Redeemable unit transactions: 

Proceeds from redeemable units issued 221,550  27,995,195 
 

Net assets attributable to holders of 
redeemable units, end of period $ 225,418 $ 28,392,911 

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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HUDSON TOTAL MANDATE PORTFOLIO FUND 
Statements of Cash Flows 

Period from 
 commencement of 

operations on 
June 29, 

Year ended 2015 to 
December 31 December 31, 

2016 2015 

Cash and cash equivalents provided by (used in): 

Operating activities: 
Increase in net assets attributable to holders of 

redeemable units $ 2,167,808 $ 401,584 
Adjustments for: 

(325,419) (1,716) Net realized gain on sale of investments
Net change in unrealized appreciation in value  

of investments (2,101,853) (431,332) 
Foreign exchange (gain) loss (37,424) 4,756 
Commissions and other portfolio transaction costs 6,844 3,700 
Interest expense 626 187 
Interest income for distribution purposes (558,153) (37,330) 
Withholding tax 17,965 2,422 
Dividend income (291,829) (222,459) 
Increase in management fees payable 94,671 24,923 
Increase (decrease) in accounts payable  

and accrued liabilities (3,459) 76,592 
Increase (decrease) in performance fees payable (112,365) 112,979 

Interest paid (626) (187) 
Interest received 549,687 22,369 
Dividends received 286,688 213,765 
Withholding tax paid (17,965) (2,422) 
Proceeds from sale of investments 16,940,468 28,805 
Purchase of investments (32,457,966) (26,832,050) 

(15,842,302) (26,635,414) 

Financing activities: 
Proceeds from issuances of redeemable units 16,669,179 28,216,745 
Distributions to unitholders of redeemable units,  

net of reinvestments  (333,606) - 
Amount paid on redemption of redeemable units (1,944,712) - 

14,390,861 28,216,745 

Net increase (decrease) in cash (1,451,441) 1,581,331 

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period 1,576,575 - 

Effect on exchange rate fluctuations on cash 37,424 (4,756) 

Cash and cash equivalents, end of period $ 162,558 $ 1,576,575 

Supplemental information: 
Cash and cash equivalents represented by: 

Cash $ (137,982) $ 1,576,575
Cash equivalents 200,540  - 

Cash and cash equivalents, end of period $ 162,558 $ 1,576,575 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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HUDSON TOTAL MANDATE PORTFOLIO FUND 
Schedule of Investment Portfolio 
 
December 31, 2016  
 

Number of  Average Fair % of net 
 shares/units Investments owned cost value asset value 

 
Canadian equities: 
 8,200 Bank of Montreal $ 591,354 $ 791,873 1.76 
 3,150 Canadian Pacific Railway Ltd. 569,028 603,414 1.34 
 13,100 Enbridge Inc. 597,320 740,150 1.64 
 30,000 H&R Real Estate Investment Trust 573,528 671,100 1.49 
 4,730 iShares 1-10 Year Laddered Government Bond Index ETF 92,823 90,438 0.20 
 10,400 iShares Canadian Corporate Bond Index ETF 222,087 221,103 0.49 
 17,800 iShares S&P/TSX Canadian Preferred Share Index ETF 222,183 235,850 0.52 
 67,250 iShares S&P/TSX Global Gold Index ETF 999,529 815,743 1.81 
 8,900 Royal Bank of Canada 600,587 808,743 1.79 
 19,600 Suncor Energy Inc. 597,087 860,440 1.91 
 14,400 TELUS Corp. 594,594 615,600 1.36 
 12,000 The Toronto-Dominion Bank 617,140 794,640 1.76 

  6,277,260 7,249,094 16.07 
 
Canadian fixed income: 
 108,000 Citigroup Inc. 4.09% 09JUN25  108,055  110,401 0.24 
 300,000 Exchange Income Corp. 5.25% 30JUN23 297,300 318,780 0.71 
 231,000 Husky Energy Inc. 3.55% 12MAR25 225,267 233,794 0.52 
 254,000 Inter Pipeline Ltd. 3.173% 24MAR25 248,156 256,235 0.57 
 255,000 Province of Alberta Canada 2.90% 20SEP29 254,291 253,633 0.56 
 250,000 Province of Manitoba Canada 2.45% 02JUN25 248,180 250,049 0.55 
 330,000 Province of Newfoundland and Labrador Canada 2.30% 
   02JUN25 321,698 317,995 0.71 
 303,000  Province of Ontario Canada 2.40% 02JUN26 299,970 300,720 0.67 
 341,000  The Bank of Nova Scotia 2.58% 30MAR27 324,402 332,605 0.74 
 236,000  The Goldman Sachs Group Inc. 5.20% 19APR22 241,985 231,184 0.51 
 250,000  TransAlta Corp. 5% 25NOV20 245,000 259,688 0.58 

  2,814,304 2,865,084 6.36 
 
Canadian investment funds: 
 641,773 Dynamic Alpha Performance Fund - Series F  5,326,700 5,371,644 11.91 
 271,764 Dynamic Aurion Total Return Bond Fund - Series F  2,622,688 2,524,691 5.60 
 692,338  Mawer Global Equity Fund - Series O 15,797,212 16,456,875 36.49 
 164,727 Phillips Hager & North High Yield Bond Fund 1,800,000 1,991,544 4.42 
 56,540 Sprott Energy Fund 1,220,015 1,246,144 2.76 

 26,766,615 27,590,898 61.18 
 
U.S. equities: 
 3,860 JPMorgan Chase & Co. 325,690 447,226 0.99 
 7,090 Morgan Stanley 312,090 402,209 0.89 
 1,750 PepsiCo Inc. 217,154 245,852 0.55 
 32,000 VanEck Vectors Gold Miners ETF 1,077,021 898,857 1.99 
 16,200 Vanguard Energy ETF 2,280,321 2,276,972 5.05 
 17,400 Vanguard Financials ETF 1,061,573 1,386,593 3.07 
 10,440 Vanguard Small-Cap ETF 1,512,493 1,807,734 4.01 
 6,786,342 7,465,443 16.55 
 

 
Total investments owned  42,644,521 45,170,519 100.16 
 
Commissions and other transaction costs (7,185) - - 
 
Net investments owned  $ 42,637,336  45,170,519 100.16 

 
Other assets, net   (66,670) (0.16) 
 

Net assets attributable to holders of redeemable units $ 45,103,849 100.00 

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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1. Reporting entity: 

Hudson Total Mandate Portfolio Fund (the “Fund”) is an open-ended investment trust which was 

created under the laws of the Province of British Columbia pursuant to a declaration of trust dated 

May 13, 2015 (the “Trust Agreement”). Willoughby Asset Management Inc., a company 

incorporated under the laws of Canada, is the manager of the Fund (the “Manager”). Harbourfront 

Wealth Management Inc. is the portfolio adviser (“Investment Advisor”) of the Fund. The Manager 

is responsible for approving and monitoring the Fund’s various service providers, including the 

Investment Advisor, in accordance with the terms of the Trust Agreement. The Manager has 

engaged the Investment Advisor to manage the Fund’s portfolio on a discretionary basis, as well 

as the distribution of the redeemable units of the Fund. The Fund’s place of business is 3100-

1021 West Hastings Street, Vancouver, BC V7E 0C3. 

The investment objective of the Fund is to invest in securities in Canada, the United States and 

other foreign jurisdictions. The fundamental investment objective of the Fund is to create a 

complete asset allocation solution to gain above average risk adjusted returns. The Fund will be 

comprised exclusively of securities listed on North American stock exchanges and gain global 

exposure through the use of exchange traded funds (“ETFs”).  

The success of the Fund depends on the continued services of the Manager and will be 

influenced by a number of risk factors associated with investments in equities, options, and other 

instruments, including derivative hedge risk, market liquidity, portfolio turnover, foreign currency 

exposure, foreign market exposure, and interest rate fluctuations. 
 

2. Basis of preparation: 

(a) Statement of compliance: 

These financial statements have been prepared in compliance with International Financial 

Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as published by the International Accounting Standards Board. 

The financial statements were authorized for issue by the Manager on April 13, 2017. 

(b) Basis of measurement: 

These financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis, except for 

investments, which are measured at fair value. 

(c) Functional and presentation currency: 

The Fund’s financial statements are presented in Canadian dollars, which is the Fund’s 

functional currency. 

(d) Use of estimates and judgment: 

The preparation of financial statements in accordance with IFRS requires management to 

use accounting estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgment in the 

process of applying the Fund’s accounting policies. Estimates are continually evaluated and 

based on historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that 

are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. Actual results could differ from those 

estimates. 



HUDSON TOTAL MANDATE PORTFOLIO FUND  

Notes to Financial Statements 
 
Year ended December 31, 2016 
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3. Significant accounting policies: 

The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently for the full period presented 

in these financial statements. 

(a) Financial assets and financial liabilities: 

Recognition and initial measurement: 

Financial assets or liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”) are 

initially recognized on the trade date, which is the date the Fund becomes a party to the 

contractual provisions of the instrument. Other financial assets and financial liabilities are 

recognized on the date on which they are originated. 

Financial assets and financial liabilities at FVTPL are initially measured at fair value, with 

transaction costs recognized in profit or loss. Financial assets and financial liabilities not at 

FVTPL are initially measured at fair value plus transaction costs that are directly attributable 

to their acquisition or issue. 

(b) Classification: 

The Fund classifies its investments in debt and equity securities and derivatives as financial 

assets at FVTPL. 

This category has two sub-categories: financial assets or financial liabilities held-for-trading 

and those designated at FVTPL at inception. 

(i) Financial assets and financial liabilities held for trading: 

A financial asset or financial liability is classified as held-for-trading if it is acquired or 

incurred principally for the purpose of selling or repurchasing in the near term or if on 

initial recognition is part of a portfolio of identifiable financial investments that are 

managed together and for which there is evidence of a recent actual pattern of short-term 

profit taking. Derivatives are categorized as held-for-trading. The Fund does not hold any 

derivative instruments. 

(ii) Financial assets and financial liabilities designated at FVTPL at inception:  

Financial assets and financial liabilities designated at FVTPL at inception are financial 

instruments that are not classified as held-for-trading but are managed, and their 

performance is evaluated on a fair value basis in accordance with the Fund’s 

documented investment strategy. The Fund’s investments have been designated at 

FVTPL. 

(iii) Cash and cash equivalents: 

Cash comprise cash on deposit and are classified as loans and receivables. Cash 

equivalents comprise any highly liquid deposits redeemable on demand or with maturity 

under 90 days. 



HUDSON TOTAL MANDATE PORTFOLIO FUND  

Notes to Financial Statements 
 
Year ended December 31, 2016 
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued): 

(b) Classification (continued): 

(iv) Other assets and liabilities: 

Interest and dividends receivable are designated as loans and receivables and recorded 

at amortized cost. Accounts payable and accrued liabilities, management fees payable, 

performance fee payable and redemptions payable are designated as financial liabilities 

and recorded at amortized cost. 

(c) Offsetting financial instruments. 

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the 

statement of financial position when there is a legally enforceable right to offset the 

recognized amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realize the asset 

and settle the liability simultaneously. In the normal course of business, the Fund may enter 

into various master netting agreements or similar agreements that do not meet the criteria for 

offsetting in the statement of financial position but still allow for the related amounts to be 

offset in certain circumstances, such as bankruptcy or termination of the contracts. 

(d) Redeemable units: 

For each Fund unit sold, the Fund receives an amount equal to the net asset value per unit at 

the date of sale, which is included in net assets attributable to holders of redeemable units. 

Units are redeemable at the option of unitholders at their net asset value on the redemption 

date. For each unit redeemed, net assets attributable to holders of redeemable units are 

reduced by the net asset value of the unit at the date of redemption. The redeemable units, 

which are classified as financial liabilities, are measured at the current value of the Fund’s net 

assets and are considered a residual amount of the net assets attributable to holders of 

redeemable units. 

(e) Cost of investments: 

The cost of investments represents the amount paid for each security and is determined on 

an average cost basis, excluding commissions and other portfolio transaction costs. 

(f) Investment transactions and income: 

Investment transactions are accounted for on the trade date. Interest income is accrued daily 

and dividend income is recognized on the ex-dividend date. Realized gains and losses from 

investment transactions are calculated on an average cost basis. 

The Fund generally incurs withholding taxes imposed by certain countries on investment 

income and capital gains. Such income and gains are recorded on a gross basis and the 

related withholding taxes are shown as a separate expense in the statement of 

comprehensive income. The interest income for distribution purposes shown on the 

statement of comprehensive income represents the coupon interest received by the Fund 

accounted for on an accrual basis. The Fund does not amortize premiums paid or discounts 

received on the purchase of fixed income securities, except for zero coupon bonds, which are 

amortized on a straight-line basis.  



HUDSON TOTAL MANDATE PORTFOLIO FUND  

Notes to Financial Statements 
 
Year ended December 31, 2016 
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued): 

(f) Investment transactions and income (continued): 

Realized gain on sale of investments and unrealized appreciation in investments are 

determined on an average cost basis. Average cost does not include amortization of 

premiums or discounts on fixed income securities with the exception of zero coupon bonds. 

(g) Commissions and other portfolio transaction costs: 

Commissions and other portfolio transaction costs are incremental costs that are directly 

attributable to the acquisition, issue or disposal of an investment, which include fees and 

commissions paid to agents, advisors, brokers and dealers, levies by regulatory agencies 

and securities exchanges, and transfer taxes and duties. Such costs are expensed and are 

included in commissions and other portfolio transaction costs in the statement of 

comprehensive income. 

(h) Translation of foreign currency: 

The functional and presentation currency of the Fund is the Canadian dollar. The fair value of 

foreign investments and other assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are 

translated into Canadian dollars at the exchange rates prevailing on each valuation day. 

Purchases and sales of foreign securities denominated in foreign currencies and the related 

income are translated into Canadian dollars at rates of exchange prevailing on the respective 

dates of such transactions. 

(i) Net assets attributable to holders per unit: 

The net assets attributable to holders of redeemable units per unit is calculated by dividing 

the net assets attributable to holders of redeemable units of a particular class of redeemable 

units by the total number of redeemable units of that particular class outstanding at the end of 

the year. 

(j) Increase in net assets attributable to holders per unit: 

Increase in net assets attributable to holders of redeemable units per unit is based on the 

increase in net assets attributable to holders of redeemable units attributed to each class of 

redeemable units, divided by the weighted average number of redeemable units outstanding 

of that class during the year.  

(k) Income taxes: 

The Fund qualifies as a unit trust under the Income Tax Act (Canada). All of the Fund’s net 

income for tax purposes and net capital gains realized in any period are required to be 

distributed to unitholders such that no income tax is payable by the Fund. As a result, the 

Fund does not record income taxes. 



HUDSON TOTAL MANDATE PORTFOLIO FUND  

Notes to Financial Statements 
 
Year ended December 31, 2016 
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued): 

(l) New standards and interpretations not yet adopted: 

A number of new standards, amendments to standards and interpretations are not yet 

effective for the year ended December 31, 2016, and have not been applied in preparing 

these financial statements. None of these will have a significant effect on the financial 

statements of the Fund, with the possible exception of the following.  

IFRS 9 – Financial Instruments 

IFRS 9 deals with recognition, derecognition, classification and measurement of financial 

statements and its requirements and represent a significant change from the existing 

requirements in IAS 39, Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement, in respect of 

financial assets. Under IFRS 9, all financial assets that are currently in the scope of IAS 39 

will be classified either as amortized cost, fair value through profit an or loss, or fair value 

through other comprehensive income. A financial asset would be measured at amortized cost 

if it is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets in order to collect 

contractual cash flows, and the asset’s contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash 

flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal outstanding. All other 

financial assets would be measured at fair value. The standard eliminates the existing IAS 39 

categories of held-to-maturity, available-for-sale and loans and receivables.  

The standard is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018. The Fund 

intends to adopt IFRS 9 in its financial statements for the annual period beginning on 

January 1, 2018. The Fund’s Manager is currently in the process of evaluating the potential 

effect of this standard, however, the standard is not expected to have a significant impact on 

the financial statements since the Fund’s financial assets are currently measured at fair value 

through profit or loss or amortized cost. 

IFRS 15 – Revenue from Contracts with Customers 

IFRS 15 will replace IAS 18, Revenue, and other related interpretations. The standard 

introduces a single comprehensive model to account for revenue arising from contracts with 

customers and applies to all contracts with customers, except for contracts that are within the 

scope of other IFRS standards such as leases, insurance contracts and financial instruments. 

IFRS 15 has a mandatory effective date for annual periods beginning on or after January 18, 

2018, with early adoption permitted. The standard may be adopted retrospectively, or as of 

the application date by adjusting retained earnings at that date and disclosing the effect of 

adoption on each line of profit or loss. The Fund’s Manager is currently in the process of 

evaluating the potential effect of this standard, however, the standard is not expected to have 

a significant impact on the financial statements. 
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4. Related party transactions: 

(a) Management fees: 

The Fund pays the Manager management fees based on a percentage of the Net Asset 

Value of the Fund quarterly, in arrears, but the fee is calculated and accrues weekly as a 

percentage of the Net Asset Value of each applicable Class of Units that comprise the Fund 

on each Valuation Day, plus applicable taxes. The Manager can absorb expenses, at its sole 

option. During the year, fees of $432,668 (2015 - $67,105) were paid to the Manager, of 

which, $119,594 (2015 - $24,923) was included in management fees payable at year end. 

The management fees applicable to each class are as follows: 
 

 
Class A 2.39% 
Class F 1.00% 
 

 

(b) Performance fee: 

The Manager is also eligible to receive a Performance Fee equal to 20% of the amount by 

which the current quarter-end Class Net Asset Value per Unit exceeds the prior all time 

quarter-end high Class Net Asset Value per Unit, after any adjustments for unit distributions. 

The current quarter-end Net Asset Value for a Class of Units must exceed that Class of Units’ 

high-water mark, adjusted for any unit distributions, by 1.25% for the quarter. The highest 

historical quarter-end Net Asset Value for each Class of Units establishes the high-water 

mark for each Class of Units, which must be exceeded in subsequent quarters by not less 

than 1.25% for the Performance Fee to be payable. The Performance Fee will be payable by 

the Fund within 10 Business Days of the quarter end. During the year, fees of $472,221 

(2015 - $112,979) were paid to the Manager, of which, $614 (2015 - $112,979) was included 

in performance fees payable at year end. 
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5. Redeemable units of the Fund: 

The Fund is authorized to issue an unlimited number of redeemable units, issuable in an 

unlimited number of classes, each of which represents an equal, undivided, beneficial interest in 

the Net Asset Value of the Fund. Each unit of each class entitles the holder to vote, with one vote 

for each whole unit held and to participate equally with respect to any and all distributions made 

by the Fund. Redeemable units of a class may be consolidated, subdivided and/or re-designated 

by the Manager. 

The redeemable unit activity during the year ended December 31, 2016 and for the period from 

commencement of operations on June 29, 2015 to December 31, 2015, is as follows: 
 

2016 Class A Class F 

 
Redeemable units, beginning of year  22,529  2,832,130 
 
Redeemable units issued 32,448 1,670,377 
 
Redemption of redeemable units - (198,672) 
 
Reinvestments of redeemable units  - 443 
 
Redeemable units, end of year  54,977  4,304,278 
 

 

2015 Class A Class F 

 
Redeemable units, beginning of period  -  - 
 
Redeemable units issued 22,529 2,832,130 
 
Redeemable units, end of period  22,529  2,832,130 

 
Capital disclosure: 

The capital of the Fund is represented by issued and redeemable units. The units are entitled to 

distributions, if any, and to payment of a proportionate share based on the Fund’s Net Asset 

Value per unit upon redemption. The Fund has no internally or externally imposed restrictions on 

its capital. The Fund endeavours to invest the subscriptions received in appropriate investments 

while maintaining sufficient liquidity to meet redemptions, such liquidity being augmented by 

short-term borrowings or disposal of investments, where necessary. 

 

6. Withholding tax expense: 

Certain dividend and interest income received by the Fund is subject to withholding tax imposed 

in the country of origin. During the year, the average withholding tax rate was 15%. 
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7. Increase in net assets attributable to holders of redeemable units per unit: 

The increase in net assets attributable to holders of redeemable units per unit for the year ended 

December 31, 2016 and for the period from commencement of operations on June 29, 2015 to 

December 31, 2015, is as follows: 
 
  Increase in  Increase in net 
  net assets Weighted assets attributable 
  attributable average of to holders to 
  to holders of redeemable redeemable 
2016 redeemable units units outstanding units per unit 
 
Class A $ 12,644 31,358 $ 0.40 
Class F 2,155,164 4,057,175 0.53 
 
 
 
  Increase in  Increase in net 
  net assets Weighted assets attributable 
  attributable average of to holders to 
  to holders of redeemable redeemable 
2015 redeemable units units outstanding units per unit 
 
Class A $ 3,868 15,718 $ 0.25 
Class F 397,716 1,212,678 0.33 
 
 

8. Collateral arrangements: 

The Fund has a prime brokerage agreement with its broker to carry its accounts as a customer. 

The broker has custody of the Fund’s securities and, from time to time, cash balances which may 

be due from the broker. 

Financial instruments and/or cash positions serve as collateral for any amounts due to broker or 

as collateral for any securities sold, not yet purchased or securities purchased on margin. The 

securities and/or cash positions also serve as collateral for potential defaults of the Fund. 

The Fund is subject to credit risk if the broker is unable to repay balances due or deliver 

securities in their custody. 
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9. Financial risk management: 

Management of financial instrument risks: 

In the normal course of business, the Fund is exposed to a variety of financial risks: credit risk, 

liquidity risk and market risk (including interest rate risk, currency risk and other price risk). The 

value of investments within the Fund’s portfolio can fluctuate on a daily basis as a result of 

changes in interest rates, economic conditions, the market and company news related to specific 

securities within the Fund. The level of risk depends on the Fund’s investment objective and the 

type of securities it invests in. 

(a) Credit risk: 

Credit risk is the risk that the counterparty to a financial instrument will fail to discharge an 

obligation or commitment that it has entered into with the Fund. 

All transactions executed by the Fund in listed securities are settled/paid for upon delivery 

using approved brokers. The risk of default is considered minimal, as delivery of securities 

sold is only made once the broker has received payment. The maximum credit exposure of 

the Fund is the carrying amount of the assets disclosed on the statements of financial 

position. Payment is made on a purchase once the securities have been received by the 

broker. The trade will fail if either party fails to meet its obligation. All counterparties are 

creditworthy. 

Where the Fund invests in debt instruments and derivatives, this represents the main 

exposure to credit risk. The fair value of debt instruments and derivatives includes 

consideration of the creditworthiness of the issuer and, accordingly, represents the maximum 

credit risk exposure of the Fund. 

At December 31, 2016 and 2015, the Fund was invested in debt securities with the following 

credit quality, as determined by DBRS’s credit rating: 
 

  2016 2015 

 
Rating: 

AAA $ - $ 255,738 
AA (high)  253,633  - 
A (high) 250,049 506,927 
A  231,184 495,510 
A (low) 994,795 353,410 
AA (low) 300,720 - 
BBB (high) 256,235 352,373 
BBB 259,688 - 
Convertible / not rated 318,780 269,982 
 

  $ 2,865,084 $ 2,233,940 
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9. Financial risk management (continued):  

(b) Liquidity risk: 

Liquidity risk is defined as the risk that the Fund may not be able to settle or meet its 

obligations on time or at a reasonable price. 

The Fund’s exposure to liquidity risk is concentrated in the periodic cash redemptions of 

units. The Fund primarily invests in securities that are traded in active markets and can be 

readily disposed of. In addition, the Fund generally retains sufficient cash and cash 

equivalent positions to maintain liquidity. All financial liabilities of the Fund are due within 

90 days. 

(c) Market risk: 

(i) Interest rate risk: 

Interest rate risk arises when the Fund invests in interest-bearing financial instruments. 

The Fund is exposed to the risk that the value of such financial instruments will fluctuate 

due to changes in the prevailing levels of market interest rates. The Manager manages 

interest rate risk through careful selection of securities and diversification of the Fund. 

There is minimal sensitivity to interest rate fluctuations on any cash and cash equivalents 

invested at short-term market interest rates.  

Investments in bonds are fixed-rate instruments with terms to maturity at December 31, 

2016 and 2015 as follows: 
 
Term to maturity 2016 2015 
 
1 - 5 years $ 259,688 $ 269,982 
Greater than 5 years 2,605,396 1,963,958 
 
 $ 2,865,084 $ 2,233,940 
 

If the prevailing interest rates had increased or decreased by 1%, assuming a parallel 

shift in the yield curve and with all other factors remaining constant, net assets could 

have increased or decreased by approximately $203,634 as at December 31, 2016 

(2015 - $190,878). In practice, the actual results may differ from the sensitivity analysis 

and the difference could be material.  

(ii) Currency risk: 

Currency risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to 

changes in foreign exchange rates. 

Currency risk arises from financial instruments (including cash) that are denominated in a 

currency other than the Canadian dollar, which represents the functional currency of the 

Fund. 
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9. Financial instruments (continued): 

(c) Market risk (continued): 

(ii) Currency risk (continued): 

Currency risk is managed by the Manager on a daily basis through a careful selection of 

securities and diversification within the Fund, in accordance with policies and investment 

mandates in place. The Fund may have up to 100% of its capital invested in foreign 

currency denominated securities. The Manager monitors the Fund’s overall market 

positions and positions are maintained within established ranges. Currency to which the 

Fund had exposure as at December 31, 2016 and December 31, 2015 is as follows:  
 

 Exposure 
Currency 2016 2015 
 
United States dollar $ 7,501,235 $ 2,062,953 
 
Percentage of net assets attributable to holders of  
  redeemable units 16.63 7.21 
 

The amounts in the above tables are based on the fair value of the Fund’s financial 

instruments (including cash). Other financial assets (including interest and dividends 

receivable and receivables for investments sold) and financial liabilities (including 

payables for equities purchased) that are denominated in foreign currencies do not 

expose the Fund to significant currency risk. 

As at December 31, 2016, if the Canadian dollar had strengthened or weakened by 5% in 

relation to all currencies, with all other variables held constant, net assets attributable to 

holders of redeemable units would have increased or decreased, respectively, by 

approximately $375,062 or 0.83% (2015 - $103,148 or 0.36%). In practice, the actual 

trading results may differ from this sensitivity analysis and the difference could be 

material. 

(iii) Other price risk: 

Other price risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of financial instruments 

will fluctuate because of changes in market prices (other than those arising from interest 

rate risk or currency risk). 

All investments represent a risk of loss of capital. The Manager aims to moderate this risk 

through careful selection and diversification of securities and other financial instruments 

in accordance with the Fund’s investment objective and strategy. The Fund’s overall 

market positions are monitored on a regular basis by the Manager. Financial instruments 

held by the Fund are susceptible to market price risk arising from uncertainties about 

future prices of the instruments. 
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9. Financial instruments (continued): 

(c) Market risk (continued): 

(iii) Other price risk (continued): 

As at December 31, 2016, 83.78% (2015 - 78.15%) of the Fund’s net assets attributable 

to holders of redeemable units were invested in securities traded mainly on Canadian 

and/or U.S. stock exchanges. If security prices on the Canadian and/or U.S. stock 

exchanges had increased or decreased by 10% as at the year end, with all other factors 

remaining constant, net assets attributable to holders of redeemable units could possibly 

have increased or decreased by approximately $3,778,920 respectively (2015 - 

$1,236,458). In practice, the actual results may differ from this sensitivity analysis and the 

difference could be significant. 
 

10. Fair value of financial instruments: 

(a) Fair value hierarchy: 

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in 

an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date in the principal 

or, in its absence, the most advantageous market to which the Fund has access at that date. 

The fair value of a liability reflects its non-performance risk. 

When available, the Fund measures the fair value of an instrument using the quoted price in 

an active market for that instrument. A market is regarded as active if transactions for the 

asset or liability take place with sufficient frequency and volume to provide pricing information 

on an ongoing basis. The Fund measures instruments quoted in an active market at last sale 

or close price, where the close price falls within the day's bid-ask spread. In circumstances 

where the close price is not within the day's bid-ask spread, the Manager determines the 

point within bid-ask spread that is most representative of fair value based on specific facts 

and circumstances. 

If there is no quoted price in an active market, then the Fund uses valuation techniques that 

maximize the use of relevant observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs. 

The Fund uses a variety of methods and makes assumptions that are based on market 

conditions existing at each statement of financial position date. Valuation techniques used 

include the use of comparable recent arm’s-length transactions, discounted cash flow 

analysis, option pricing models and other valuation techniques commonly used by market 

participants. 

Investments measured at fair value are classified into one of three fair value hierarchy levels, 

based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement in its entirety. 

The inputs or methodologies used for valuing securities are not necessarily an indication of 

the risk associated with investing in those securities. 
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10. Fair value of financial instruments (continued): 

(a) Fair value hierarchy (continued): 

The three fair value hierarchy levels are as follows: 

 Level 1 -  quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities; 

 Level 2 -  inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are observable for the 

asset or liability, either directly (i.e., as prices) or indirectly (i.e., derived from 

prices); and 

 Level 3 -  inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data 

(unobservable inputs). 

(b) Fair value hierarchy – financial instruments measured at fair value: 

The following tables summarize the levels within the fair value hierarchy in which the fair 

value measurements of the Fund’s investments fall as of December 31, 2016, and 2015: 
 

December 31, 2016 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 

 
Assets: 
Common stocks $ 14,714,537 $ - $ - $ 14,714,537 
Fixed income  318,780 2,546,304 - 2,865,084 
Investment funds 22,219,254 5,371,644 - 27,590,898 

 
  $ 37,252,571 $ 7,917,948 $ - $ 45,170,519 
 
 

December 31, 2015 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 

 
Assets: 
Common stocks $ 3,528,630 $ - $ - $ 3,528,630 
Fixed income - 2,233,940 - 2,233,940 
Investment funds 15,561,982 5,908,041 - 21,470,023 

 
  $ 19,090,612 $ 8,141,981 $ - $ 27,232,593 
 

Fixed income investments classified as Level 2 in the hierarchy are priced based on broker 

quotations, which are based primarily on matrix pricing or quotations of similar instruments. 

Investment funds are priced based on the respective underlying net assets value of the 

respective fund. These investment funds classified as Level 2 in the hierarchy do not have 

sufficient frequency of trading to constitute an active market. 

The carrying amount of the Fund’s net assets attributable to redeemable units also 

approximates fair value as they are measured at the redemption amount and are classified as 

Level 2 in the fair value hierarchy. 

There were no transfers of financial assets between Level 1, Level 2 and Level 3 for the year 

ended December 31, 2016, or the period from commencement of operations on June 29, 

2015 to December 31, 2015. 
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10. Fair value of financial instruments (continued): 

(c) Financial instruments not measured at fair value: 

The carrying value of cash, interest and dividends receivable, accounts payable and accrued 

liabilities, management fees payable, performance fees payable and redemptions payable 

approximates their fair value given their short-term nature. These financial instruments are 

classified as Level 2 in the fair value hierarchy because while prices are available, there is no 

active market for these instruments. 
 

11. Income taxes: 

Non-capital losses are available to be carried forward for 20 years and applied against future 

taxable income. Capital losses may be carried forward indefinitely and applied against future 

capital gains. 

As at December 31, 2016 and 2015, the Fund had no non-capital losses and no capital losses 

available for carrying forward. 
 




